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COMPANY PROFILE
ST

Digital China Holdings Limited (“Digital China” or the “Company”, Stock Code:
00861) is a leading integrated IT services provider in China. Digital China was
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 1
June 2001. It focuses on providing customers with sophisticated and applicable
IT solutions, driving technological innovations for work and life and enhancing
the digitalization process in China. In order to achieve these goals, the
Company is striving to become the premier IT services provider with the most
comprehensive services for a majority of Chinese users.

Digital China focuses on eight major business segments in the China market:
IT Planning, Business Process Outsourcing, Application Development, System
Integration, Hardware Infrastructure Services, Maintenance, Hardware
Installation, Distribution and Retail. A full range of IT services are available to
industry clients, large enterprises, SMEs and individual consumers.

Digital China has regional centres in 19 major cities in China. Leveraging on its
strategic partnership with over 100 leading IT vendors world-wide and a
network of over 10,000 re-sellers and agents across the country, the Company
provides the best and most convenient IT services to users in China. With
extensive experience in the market, the Company is a leading IT services
provider to the financial, telecommunications and government sectors. Digital
China has also sustained to be the leading IT products distributor for years.
The sustainable growth of the Company is recognized by the industry. Digital
China was named as one of the 2009 Asian Fab 50 companies by Forbes Asia
and placed top three in the technology sector of China’s Most Promising
Companies in 2009 by The Asset. Digital China was also ranked first in the
“Top 100 PRC Business Technology Companies 2008" by Information Week,
chosen by users as the “Best Packaged Solution Provider” in a nomination
hosted by National Informatization Evaluation Center as well as selected as
one of the “Top 10 Software Innovative Enterprises 2008” by China Software
Industry Association.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE
" 4
FY2009/10 FY2008/09 FY2007/08 FY2006/07 FY2005/06
—28h/ Z—ZETN\/ =BTt/ ZTTX,/ —ZBTH/
—ZHF TAHEF SNEF THHEF TREF
HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m
BE¥EET EEErT EEKeEr FEEErT  EEEET
For the Year REER
Revenue KA 50,178 42,326 35,244 25,418 19,865
Profit from Operating Activities R 1,164 884 651 415 375
Net Profit from Ordinary Activities REREMEBEES
Attributable to Shareholders 2 m MFE 824 641 401 208 252
Earnings per Share (HK cents) BFRAF B 83.12 66.58 43.72 23.92 29.19
Dividends per Share (HK cents) FREREGEW) 28.26 14.55 14.55 8.28 10.00
At Year-end REER
Total Assets BEE 15,670 11,546 9,314 6,885 5,827
Shareholders’ Funds EE S 4,201 3,140 2,626 1,961 1,787
Financial Ratio Bt 3§ Ltk &
Return on Equity (%) BRESERE(BEHLL) 19.62 20.42 15.28 10.63 1410
Interest Cover (times) FIEBELE(RE) 9.31 5.55 3.13 2.83 3.91
Current Ratio (times) MENLE & (%) 1.43 1.45 1.56 1.44 1.25
Total Interest Bearing Debts to B BB R
Shareholders’ Funds Ratio (times) B R(E) 0.41 0.57 0.60 0.63 0.68
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APRIL
Digital China participates in the standardization of China’s IT services

On 23 April 2009, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
established a “Working Team on the Standardization of China’s Information
Technology Services”. Digital China Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.
was selected as a Deputy Team Leader. It was also appointed as the leader of
the IT Operation and Maintenance Working Team. In light of current
developments and future trends in IT services, the Working Team will develop
basic terms, business operations standards, service modules and application
guidelines, covering areas of IT operation and maintenance, service
management and outsourcing.

MAY

Maturity of innovative solutions as Citizen Card successfully launched in
Yangzhou

Digital China developed the Citizen Card under the commission of Yangzhou
Municipal Government. The Citizen Card was officially distributed to the first
group of Yangzhou citizens on 2 May 2009. The card has cross-functional
features such as social security, municipal and financial services. Citizen Card is
the first solution with these services on one card through cross-industry
integration of IT, and is also an important part of the “Sme@rt City” solution
suite of Digital China. In addition, on 31 December 2009, the Citizen Card
was distributed in Wuxi to enhance the efficiency of their city management
and services. Zhangjiagang City Municipal Government and Digital China also
entered into a Citizen Card infrastructure construction and service outsourcing
agreement.

JULY

40 of Digital China’s network products included in the latest “Catalog
of Self-Developed Products in Beijing”

On 27 July 2009, subsequent to specialists’ selection and confirmation by
Beijing Municipal Commission of Development and Reform, Beijing Municipal
Commission of Construction, Beijing Industry Promotion Bureau as well as
Administrative Committee of Zhongguancun Science Park (“Z-Park”), 40 of
Digital China’s network products were included in the latest “Catalog of Self-
Developed Products in Beijing Municipality”. The products included are
prioritized for government procurement and will be supported in procurement
contracts. The brand image of Digital China will be strengthened, allowing the
Group to obtain further government contracts.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
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AUGUST

Digital China wins two consultancy contracts for the Golden Tax Project
Phase Il of State Administration of Taxation

On 7 August 2009, State Administration of Taxation announced that the two
consultancy contracts of Golden Tax Project Phase Ill, including demand
consolidation, analysis, infrastructure design and engineering management,
were awarded to Digital China. Building on solid experience in taxation
administration for over ten vyears, it is expected that work on the Golden Tax
Project Phase Il will be completed in four to five years. A brand new national
taxation management system will be formed to further consolidate payment
services and management, provide regulations and rates and reduce costs for
collection, thereby providing strong support for tax administration.

SEPTEMBER
2009 Innovative Forum on IT Services successfully completed

Organized by Advisory Committee for State Informatization, Beijing Municipal
Commission of Economy and Information Technology, Administrative
Committee of Z-Park, Beijing Information Technology Organization and Digital
China, 2009 Innovative Forum on IT Services with the theme of “Innovation,
Services, Integration” was successfully held in Beijing on 8 September 2009.
The 2009 Innovative Forum focused on “Self-innovation” and opened
discussion on various topics such as Cloud Computing, 3G and Digital Life and
Information Security. Government officials, experts and scholars as well as
managements of renowned enterprises including Google, Microsoft, IBM,
CISCO, and Symantec attended the forum and delivered speeches.

Establish a Joint Venture with Octopus E2/\iZER L & & A T
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Digital China makes first share placement in 8 years to expand IT
services

On 16 September 2009, Digital China announced a placement of 57,647,000
new shares, representing approximately 5.65% of the then enlarged issued
capital of the Company. The net price of each share was HK$6.37. A total of
approximately HK$367 million was raised from the placement. It is the first
share placement by Digital China since its 2001 listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Proceeds from the placement will be used for strategic
investments in IT services, research and development and also as general
working capital. The IT services industry in China is developing rapidly. The
market is fragmented and thus provides ample room for the Group to grow.
Meanwhile, as its solutions improve, the Group’s market share will be
enlarged. Following acquisitions, the Group will be well equipped to provide
better solutions for its clients. As a result, Digital China’s core competitiveness
as the leading IT services provider in China will be further strengthened, thus
creating long-term value to its shareholders.

Digital China ranked one of Asia’s Fab 50 companies by Forbes

On 24 September 2009, Digital China was ranked by Forbes Asia in the 2009
Asian Fab 50 companies. The Company was selected from 910 enterprises in
the Asia Pacific region with revenue or market capitalization over US$3 billion.
Other selection criteria included the five-year revenue track record, operating
earnings and return on capital. The most recent results, share price movement
and outlook for the year ahead were also taken into consideration. The
inclusion of Digital China demonstrates that the Group’s efforts and results are
being acclaimed by the market.
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OCTOBER

Software systems receive Computer Software Copyright by the National
Copyright Administration of the P.R.C.

In 2009, various software systems developed by Digital China including “Digital
China FAS Front-end System”, “Digital China Hospital Operation Information
System”, “Performance Appraisal System” and “Digital China Desktop System
Software” received a Computer Software Copyright issued by National
Copyright Administration of the P.R.C. Digital China has attached high
importance to research and development. Of 10,000 employees, half of them
are R&D professionals. The Group also established 3 state-of-art software
delivery centers in Beijing, Xi‘an and Chengdu. After strenuous efforts over the
years, Digital China owns more than 400 solutions and 200 intellectual
property rights and patents.

NOVEMBER

Digital China ranked by The Asset as one of China’s Most Promising
Companies of 2009

The Asset, the renowned monthly financial journal, listed Digital China as one
of China’s Most Promising Companies of 2009, placing top three in the
technology sector. Investment professionals and research analysis were invited
to select from 300 Chinese companies that were mainly listed in Hong Kong.
The companies were ranked on the basis of earnings and profitability, quality
of management, standards of corporate governance, treatment of minority
shareholders and effectiveness of investor relations. Leveraging on its leading
market position, high standards of corporate governance, clear operating
strategies and outstanding IT products and services, Digital China is acclaimed
by the financial market and is listed as one of China’s most promissing
companies.

Digital China and SJI Inc. (“SJI") form strategic partnership to jointly
develop business in China and Japan

On 4 November 2009, Digital China's non-wholly owned subsidiary Digital
China Software (BVI) Limited subscribed 23.65% equity interest in the Japan-
listed IT company SJI and was also granted options in SJI. Digital China and SJI
agreed to share know-how, intellectual property, technology, human resources
and sales networks to jointly expand business in China and Japan. It is
believed that Digital China's cooperation with SJI will further enhance its IT
services and software development while increasing the opportunity to enter
the Japanese market.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Digital China becomes one of the top 100 innovative enterprises in the
Zhonguancun National Autonomous Innovation Exemplary Zone

In November 2009, Beijing Municipal Government, Ministry of Sciences and
Technology and Chinese Academy of Sciences jointly held a meeting in relation
to the launch of the 100 Innovative Enterprises Pilot Programme. The third
group of 100 enterprises included in the pilot programme and the first group
of 100 enterprises which completed the programme were announced during
the meeting. Currently, the number of enterprises which have participated in
the pilot programme amount to 305, of which, 56 including Digital China
have completed the programme and become one of the innovative enterprises.

DECEMBER

Population Administration Decision Information System (PADIS) Phase |
passes inspection

On 25 December 2009, the Population Administration Decision Information
System (PADIS), which was solely developed by Digital China, successfully
passed inspection. PADIS is a showcase of the State's e-administration, thus
completion of Phase | signalled a milestone in digitized population
administration. PADIS begins a new era allowing multiple developments of
information integration, business execution and scientific estimates.

Digital China wins Shell’s IT supporting software outsourcing bid

Leveraging on solid experience in IT service management, Digital China
successfully won the IT supporting software outsourcing bid of Shell (China)
Limited. Digital China will provide IT service for Shell's Petrol Station
Administration System (BasePOS/BOS/HOS/xHub/FileMover), Financial
Management System SUN and Fleet Card System. The outsource package not
only meets Shell's requirements for a stable IT operation system, but also
reduces service costs. It also helps establish a unified IT service model for the
provision of end-user services and third-party management, so as to support
Shell’s further business development.

9
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JANUARY

Digital China and Octopus form partnership to jointly develop Citizen Card
applications and operational service in Mainland China

On 20 January 2010, Digital China Software Limited, a subsidiary of Digital
China and Octopus China Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Octopus Holdings Limited, signed a momentous agreement to establish a joint
venture Digital China Octopus Information Technology Services Limited (&)1
HBWNEBEBERZRARB AR AF) to develop applications and operational
services for Citizen Cards in Malnland China. Digital China Software Limited
and Octopus China Investments Limited hold 51% and 49% of the capital in
the joint venture respectively. Both companies will utilise their strengths to the
fullest. The joint venture will provide operational services in an effort to
promote the development of application know-how and services of Citizen
Cards in China, so as to further support Digital China's development efforts in
building a “Smert City".

Debit Card System of lJinzhong City Commercial Bank successfully
launched

In September 2009, Jinzhong City Commercial Bank chose Digital China from
amongst various competitors to set up its banking card system. According to
the bank’s requirement such as providing 24-hour online self-service across
regions, Digital China completed the application of China UnionPay and
established a banking card system accordingly. The system was launched at
midnight on 28 January 2010. Digital China spent five months from
preparation to implementation on this project. The project has received
positive feedback from officials and staff of Jinzhong City Commercial Bank.

FEBRUARY

Digital China enters into agreement for strategic cooperation with
Tangshan Municipal Government

On 5 February 2010, Digital China and the Tangshan Municipal Government
formed a strategic partnership to launch the “Sm@rt Tangshan” project.
Tangshan will focus on city informatization to serve the community to a
greater extent. The agreement uses the advanced technology of Digital China
for the Citizen Card project, the Tangshan energy administration project,
e-government construction as well as infrastructure operation and maintenance
in "Sm@rt City", propelling the comprehensive development of Tangshan.

First contract for Hospital Information System DCHIS

Digital China Hospital Information System (DCHIS), signed its first contract with
Beijing Youan Hospital, a Grade-Ill Class-A hospital. The system is developed
by Digital China and has received Software Copyright. The contract involves 21
sub-systems. The signing of this contract has significant meaning to the
development of DCHIS products since by shifting from “finance-oriented” to

“clinical-oriented”, the system emphasizes the integrated management on

medicine, fee and medical quality, resulting in a patient-centered system in
balance with needs for financing and accounting.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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GOVERNMENT AND THIRD
PARTY ORGANIZATION

The CCW CEO & CIO Summit 2009

China Informatization Project Achievement Award

Network Application Branch, China Computer Users Association
Customer Satisfaction Award 2009

National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, Ministry of Commerce and State
Administration of Taxation

Key Software Enterprise in National Planning Layout 2009

Beijing Municipal Government, Ministry of Sciences and Technology and
Chinese Academy of Sciences

Top 100 Innovative Enterprises in the Zhongguancun National Autonomous
Innovation Exemplary Zone

China Info-port Forum Organising Committee and China Information
Industry Net

Top 10 Network Services Providers

Organising Committee of “Innovation Zhongguancun 2009"

Top 100 Enterprises of Zhongguancun with Best Innovation Capability

Organising Committee of “Innovation Zhongguancun 2009"

Top 100 Enterprises of Zhongguancun with Best Comprehensive Strength

Beijing Security and Protection Industry Association and China Market
Credit Management Association

AAA-class “Outstanding Trustworthy Enterprises”
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CCID Consulting

2009 Next Generation Data Centre of Chin
Management Solution Award

Global Supply Chain Council
China Best IT Supply Chain Solution Award 2009

Cisco Systems, Inc.
FY09 Best Partner in Services Award

Cisco Systems, Inc.
FY09 Best Partner in Power Industry Award

Cisco Systems, Inc.
FY09 Best Partner in Supply Chain Award

EMC Corporation
EMC VAD Partner Annual Award

EMC Corporation
EMC VAR Partner Annual Award

EMC Corporation
EMC CLARIiON Product Sales Award

EMC Corporation
EMC Networker Product Sales Award

EMC Corporation
EMC Sales Award — Northern China Region

a
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EMC Corporation EMCA 7]
EMC Sales Award — Government Sector EMCHFITXHERE
EMC Corporation EMCA 7]
EMC Sales Award — Eastern China Region EMCERREERE
EXIN EXIN
EXIN Accredited Partner in China Region 2009 20095 E Bl [ R 1 B 4R 18
Hewlett Packard =g
Business Inkjet Printers — Best Progress Award 7] PR W 2R 4T ED A A fR A AP %
Hewlett Packard =E
Industrial Standard Servers — Outstanding Contributions Award TEZERBEE LR T
Hewlett Packard =
Business Desktop Computers — Annual Outstanding National Distributor FREAKFERBEESHHEHR
Award
Hewlett Packard g
Workstation Products — Excellent Channel Growth Award TEWERIFHRBEEHIERE
Hewlett Packard E
Business Notebook — Annual Best Distributor Award FRERAFEREER D HE R
Juniper Networks, Inc. Juniper @ #& A 7
Juniper FY09 Best Distributor Award — Greater China Juniper FYO9K 7 2 & £ £ 53 8 7 £2
Lenovo Bk 28
ThinkPad Best Cooperation Award ThinkPad & £ & {E 12
Microsoft Corporation A

FY09 Best Authorized Dealers FYOOTH B S (= A R 3R 4%
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Motorola Inc.
Best Value-added Distributor 2009 — China

Polycom Inc.
Best Video Distributor 2009

RADVISION
Outstanding Cooperation Partner — Asia Pacific

Radware, Inc.

Outstanding Distributor

RSA, Information Security Division of EMC
RSA Best Partner — Greater China

MEDIA ORGANIZATION

Forbes Asia
Forbes Asia’s Fab 50

The Asset
Top 3, Technology Sector, China’s Most Promising Companies 2009

Computer Partner World
Top 500 Computer Companies of China 2009 — Top 200 Solution Providers

China Computerworld Media Group and Ftimes Info
Top 10 Outstanding Financial IT Enterprises

China Computerworld Media Group and Ftimes Info
Top 10 Outstanding Financial IT Individuals

China Computerworld Media Group and New Finance Magazine

The title of “Outstanding Financial IT Products and Solutions of China 2009"
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Look to the fiscal year 2010/11, the Board of Directors is fully aware that uncertainties remain
In many areas as economic recovery continues in China. Nevertheless, it is also convinced
that the Company will greet its 10th anniversary of IPO listing by accomplishing the goals
and objectives set by the Board and delivering strong shareholders’ return on the back of
sound corporate governance, resolute implementation of the transformation strategy, solid
business foundations, outstanding management capabilities in adaptation to change, growing

maturity in management experience and the dedicated efforts of the entire staff team.
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The 2009/10 financial year, being a crucial period for the Company’s second
5-year plan, was marked by a volatile macro-economic landscape with a string
of uncertainties. Even Premier Wen Jiabao described 2009 as “the most
difficult year” in terms of China's economic conditions in his Report on the
Work of the Government. Precisely in view of such difficulties, the Board of
Directors is especially pleased to note that, thanks to the far-sighted strategic
planning and hands-on leadership of the Management, as well as the total
dedication of our staff, the Company's business sustained strong growth
against all odds and delivered satisfactory results for the shareholders. For the
financial year 2009/10, Digital China Group reported gross revenue of
HK$50,178 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 18.55%. The
Group's overall profitability was also significantly improved, as evidenced by a
28.57% growth in profit attributable to shareholders to approximately HK$824
million. Net cash inflow from operating activities continued to register healthy
growth with a balance of HK$1,008 million.

The glaring performance of Digital China stocks in the capital market
represented another breakthrough with strategic significance in the fiscal year
2009/10. Our share price grew by nearly three times throughout the 2009/10
financial year after closing at HK$5.07 on 1 April 2008, while we greeted an
important historical milestone in December 2009 when our market
capitalization reached the HK$10 billion benchmark. Digital China was highly
regarded by the financial community for its market leadership, well-defined
prudent strategies, outstanding operating results and superior corporate
governance standards, as evidenced by its first-ever inclusion in Forbes Asia’s
Fab 50 and its top-three ranking in the “Technology Sector” of “The Asset
China’s Most Promising Companies 2009".

Our spectacular performance in the capital market during the financial year
under review was mainly attributable to the stable business growth of the
Company and its well-defined strategies and planning in capital operations.
Given the rapid growth and enormous potential of China’s IT service market, it
is the intention of the Management to engage in more active involvement for
capital market leveraging, in the aim of continuing to increase the Company's
competitiveness as the nation’s largest integrated IT service provider and
delivering long-term value for shareholders. Therefore, the 2009/10 financial
year was also the strategic prime year of Digital China’s capital operations.

(1) In September 2009, the Company placed 57,647,000 new shares to
investors at a net price of HK$6.37 per share, raising funds of HK$367 million.
It was Digital China’s first share placement in 8 years since being listed on
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2001, and proceeds received were fully
committed to the future strategic investments in IT service businesses and its
R&D capabilities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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(2) In November 2009, the Company formed a strategic alliance with SJI, a
listed IT company in Japan, with the subscription of 23.65% equity interests in
SJI through subsidiary Digital China Software (BVI) Limited (42 /i £ 5 &k {4 (BVI)
BBR7A7A]). We were also granted certain options in SJI. We believe that our
cooperation with SJI will allow Digital China to enhance its IT servicing and
software development capabilities, while giving rise to opportunities to expand
to Japanese market.

(3) In January 2010, a subsidiary of the company, Digital China Software
Limited (/N5 &4 AR A RF]) entered into a milestone joint venture
agreement with Octopus China Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Octopus Holdings Limited, in relation to the formation of a joint venture
company known as Digital China Octopus Information Technology Services
Limited (18 &85 )\ :E W= 8 2R B BR 2 E]). The parties will cooperate
in the development of “citizen card” application solutions and operating
services in China, drawing on the strengths of both parties to explore new
applications for the “citizen card” and provide operating services, so that
Digital China will enhance its provision of quality services to the government
and citizens in future in connection with our “Sme@rt City” projects.

In addition to business results fulfillment and outstanding performance in
capital operations, the Company also duly delivered, under the leadership of
the Management, in strategic transformation and the roll-out of key tasks
planned ahead. In firm adherence to the transformation strategy of being
“customer-focused and service-oriented”, the Management determined the
Company’s overall strategic planning and business layout at the start of the
financial year, focusing on various market sub-segments and emphasizing the
implementation of marketing strategies. Our Services Business was increasingly
focused on the enhancement of consultancy and service capabilities, while
there were solid improvements in our business value and profitability on the
back of an increasing weighting for software and services. Our market
leadership in the channel business was further consolidated as we engaged
ourselves in active expansion initiatives leveraging the positive impact of
improving economic conditions.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Since its IPO listing in 2001, the Company has been engaged in ongoing
initiatives to develop and improve its decision-making regime, supervision
regime and incentive regime, in accordance with the rules of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and in firm adherence to the three-tier governance structure
(shareholders, Board of Directors and Management). During the finance year
2009/10, the Board of Directors made valuable recommendations in respect of
macro-economic analysis and strategy formulation, as well as strengthening
support for and commitment to strategic implementation and capital
operations, in addition to the normal routine of overseeing the Company's
operations and the conduct of general meetings, Board meetings and meetings
of specialized committees in accordance with relevant rules of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Meanwhile, we have achieved higher standards in legal
compliance, financial information accuracy and management transparency
thanks to enhanced efforts in internal auditing on the part of the Audit
Committee under the Board of Directors. The Remuneration Committee, on
the other hand, formulated well-defined management KPI results appraisal
indicators in a joint effort with the Management, while active consideration
was given to a more flexible incentive regime to maintain the Company’'s
advantage and competitive edge in manpower strategy.

Look to the fiscal year 2010/11, the Company will continue to adopt pro-active
measures to improve its foundational management and win “customer-focused”
marketing campaigns, in a bid to strengthen the Company’s overall core
competitiveness by reinforcing its marketing management capabilities and
securing overall improvements in the marketing and risk control regimes. While
the Board of Directors is fully aware that uncertainties remain in many areas
as economic recovery continues in China, it is also convinced that the
Company will greet its 10th anniversary of IPO listing by accomplishing the
goals and objectives set by the Board and delivering strong shareholders’
return on the back of sound corporate governance, resolute implementation of
the transformation strategy, solid business foundations, outstanding
management capabilities in adaptation to change, growing maturity in
management experience and the dedicated efforts of the entire staff team.
Last but not least, | would also like to take this opportunity to thank all
shareholders, investors, patrons and employees of Digital China for their
longstanding support.

N

GUO Wei &
Chairman = J&

Hong Kong, 20 July 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
B A R T

Under the lingering effect of the financial crisis, all industries and sectors in
China were facing the challenge of an extremely precarious business
environment in 2009. Based on diligent and detailed research and analysis, the
Management of the Group was resolved to address the external situation
through in-depth and effective implementation of the “customer-focused and
service-oriented” strategy, designating the financial year under review as the
“Year of Strategic Marketing”. A customer-oriented marketing battle was
launched in full scale in various market sub-segments, providing a direct boost
for growth against adverse conditions and enabling the Group to achieve its
goal for the year, i.e. “expedite transformation and deliver a crucial victory for
2009". For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group continued to deliver
overall business growth that outperformed the industry, achieving the goals
set for various business indicators and good progress in critical tasks as its
dominant position in the market was further consolidated.

The Group's brilliant results for the financial year under review were first and
foremost attributable to the transformation strategy of “customer-focused and
service-oriented”, which was formulated by the Management in 2007.
Secondly, the Management's ability to identify and capture opportunities in
market sub-segments amid the ever-changing macro-economic landscape also
contributed to our success. Finally, our strong results serve further evidence to
the Management’s growing sophistication in strategic management and
foundational management.

1.1 “Customer-oriented” marketing campaign in full swing in sub-
segments to deliver substantial turnover growth outperforming
the industry

The Group recorded turnover of HK$12,352 million for the fourth
quarter, an increase of 22.57% as compared to HK$10,078 million for
the corresponding period of last financial year. For the year ended 31
March 2010, the Group reported total turnover of HK$50,178 million
versus HK$42,326 million for the corresponding period of last financial
year, representing a 18.55% growth rate which was significantly higher
than the overall growth rate of China's IT market.

1.2 Further strides in overall profitability underpinned by sustained
strong growth in profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent

For the year ended 31 March 2010, profit attributable to the equity
holders of the parent (profit attributable to shareholders) amounted to
approximately HK$824 million, representing a 28.57% growth as
compared to approximately HK$641 million for the corresponding
period of last financial year. Basic earnings per share amounted to
83.12 HK cents, which was 24.84% higher as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Ground-breaking progress in Software Services Business

During the financial year under review, the Group enjoyed competitive
edge over its rivals in terms of software business coverage, and it
ranked among the leaders in the government sector, with particular
dominance and potential in “Sm@rt City” Project and State Tax
Administration. Our core banking products also boasted solid
competitive advantages on the back of strong industry recognition and
high standards. Our exposure to the telecommunications industry was
well-balanced, with coverage of China Mobile, China Unicom and China
Telecom.

Effective control of overall operating expenses ratio

With persistent and stringent implementation of relevant cost
management policies, the Group was able to lower its overall operating
expenses ratio to 5.49% for the year ended 31 March 2010, as
compared to 5.96% reported for the corresponding period of last
financial year. Our measures to manage and control overall operating
expenses proved effective against extremely intricate market conditions.

Effective cash flow management evidenced by sustained healthy
growth in net cash inflow and substantial improvements in cash
turnover efficiency

Thanks to enhanced cash flow management and control, the Group
recorded net cash inflow from operating activities of HK$1,008 million
for the year ended 31 March 2010, as compared to HK$727 million for
the corresponding period of last financial year. Cash flow performance
remained sound and our cash turnover efficiency was improving as we
continued to enhance inventory management over the complete cycle
of ordering, sales and inventory, matching our purchases in close
tandem with sales and focused on cash collection management. For the
year ended 31 March 2010, the Group's cash turnover cycle was 19.22
days, which was significantly reduced by 4.44 days as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year and commanded an
undisputed leading position in the industry.

Distribution Business (with a primary focus on the SMB &
Consumer Markets)

The Group's Distribution Business is primarily focused on meeting the
demand for IT products and solutions from SMB and consumer markets.

The Distribution Business further reinforced its market dominance
reported improvements in profitability as it leveraged the favourable
condition of a gradually recovering Chinese economy in 2009 to engage
in swift expansion. For the year ended 31 March 2010, turnover
amounted to approximately HK$22,722 million, representing a 20.88%
growth over the corresponding period of last financial year. Gross profit
margin was higher at 4.40%, as compared to the corresponding period
of last financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

Substantial growth sustained in the sectors of notebooks, PC
servers and consumer IT products

Our Distribution Business delivered outstanding performance in terms of
new business expansion in the consumer and commercial business
sectors, providing solid support for business growth of this business
segment in the financial year under review. With the appointment as a
Top Tier Distributor for China Mobile since the first quarter and a
nation-wide partner for China Unicom in relation to the latter's WO-3G
business with special emphasis on the iPhone since the second quarter,
our coverage of China’s big-three telecommunications carriers (China
Mobile, China Unicom and China Telecom) was complete. Meanwhile,
our Distribution Business made significant moves in new product
development, enriching the Company’s product lines by introducing
Blackberry, Fujitsu, AIGO and Hanvon, etc. Moreover, we entered into
deals with leading domestic IT manufacturers such as Founder and
Tongfang to become an important partner for this segment, in addition
to being the leading partner of foreign manufacturers in China. For the
year ended 31 March 2010, turnovers for notebooks, PC servers and
consumer IT products grew by 48.98%, 55.44% and 34.25%,
respectively as compared to the corresponding period of last financial
year, driving substantial overall turnover growth for the Distribution
Business.

Penetrating efforts in regional network expansion and channel
development paying off

For the year ended 31 March 2010, turnover contributions to the
Group's Distribution Business from 4-6 tiers cities increased by over
70% as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
With 422 Digital China "@PORT" franchise retail outlets in China, solid
foundations have been put in place for further reinforcing our market
dominance and competitive edge in the market for distribution in 4-6
tiers cities.

Systems Business (with a primary focus on the Enterprise Market)

The Group’s Systems Business of value-added distribution is primarily
focused on meeting the IT demand of the enterprise market. Since
2007, direct sales to regional customers have been adopted on a trial
basis to enhance direct control over our business in the enterprise
market.

In-depth cultivation of customer demand to secure our market
position and achieve trend-bucking growth

In response to difficulties in the enterprise market in 2009, the
Management made proactive adjustments to its strategies by cultivating
customers’ demands. For the year ended 31 March 2010, turnover
amounted to approximately HK$13,983 million, representing a 4.70%
growth as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Breaking new ground in regional markets with ongoing
enhancement of solution capabilities

Since fiscal year 2008, as one of the proactive implementation
measures of our strategy of being fully customer-oriented, we have
been seeking to expand our regional customer market by exploring the
unique need from our regional customer businesses. After two years of
continuous development, we are glad to report ground-breaking
progress in our regional customer business and ongoing enhancements
of our solution capabilities. Our regional customer business for the year
ended 31 March 2010 registered a year-on-year growth of over 56% as
compared to the corresponding period of last financial year, offering
significant support for and stability in the overall income of the Systems
Business.

Sustaining rapid growth in storage products

Driven by robust demand from China’s telecommunications sector and
growing requirements from its financial sector in 2009, turnover for
storage products in the Group’s Systems Business reported a year-on-
year growth of 42.50%.

Supply Chain Services Business (with a primary focus on the Hi-
tech Industries Market)

The Group’s Supply Chain Services Business is primarily targeted at
manufacturers of IT and other high-value density manufacturers and
major accounts, providing “one-stop” supply-chain consultancy and
implementation.

Sustaining rapid business expansion as new driver to overall
growth revenue and results

To give further depth to the implementation of the strategy of being
“customer-focused and service-oriented” the Group disclosed the results
of its Supply Chain Services Business on a stand-alone basis for the
financial year under review. For the year ended 31 March 2010, the
Group's Supply Chain Services Business reported turnover of HK$8,775
million, representing a substantial growth of 65.89% as compared to
the corresponding period of last financial year. This business segment
has made outstanding contributions to the realisation of the overall
business objectives of the Group and provided a new driver to the
Group's overall revenue growth. Turnover from the Fulfillment business
(FA business) reported growth of 60.15% over the corresponding period
of last financial year on the back of closer cooperation with
manufacturers as such HP and Dell, while turnover from mega Chain
Electronic Stores (CES) business reported a 90.21% growth in turnover
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year, as it
continued to introduce new products, business model innovations and
process re-engineering which resulted in significantly improved turnover
rate. Meanwhile, ground-breaking progress was made in third-party
logistics as we were signed up as logistics service provider for high-
profile companies such as PetroChina and BYD.
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Services Business (with a primary focus on the Industry Market)

The Group's Services Business is targeted at large-scale industry
customers, offering IT planning and consultation, design and
implementation of industry application software and solutions,
outsourcing of IT system operation and maintenance, as well as
products and services in systems integration and maintenance.

Continuous improvements in profitability through active
adjustment of software and services distribution

The Group adjusted the distribution of software and services during the
financial year under review by increasing the weighting of software and
services and downscaling hardware supply, contributing to significant
improvements in business value and profitability. As a result, gross
profit margin for this business improved significantly to 14.82%, as
compared to 13.41% for the corresponding period of last financial year,
even though turnover was slightly lower at approximately HK$4,698
million.

Rapid expansion of software solution product lines and successful
launch of large-scale solutions winning wide acclaim from
customers

In connection with the financial sector, the financial year under review
was marked by the successful launch of the Core Banking System of
Qilu Bank, the sign-up of Bank of Xuchang in respect of application
software of core banking system and related services, the launch of the
core banking system for Jinshang Bank and the debit card system for
Jinzhong City Commercial Bank. As for the government sector, the
Group made successful bidding in August 2009 for two consultancy
projects in connection with the Golden Tax Project Phase Il of the
State Administration of Taxation. Meanwhile, the Sm@rt City Project of
the Group was replicated in several Chinese cities, effectively helping
local governments to enhance their services and management standards
in citizen services, business sector administration and city management.
The project facilitated the extensive application of informatisation in
cities while reinforced the Group’s leadership in city digitalisation. In
addition, the issuance of Citizen Card as part of the Sm@rt City Project
was conducted in Wuxi and Zhangjiagang, following their successful
debut of Yangzhou in May 2009.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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3. Management Outlook

The Management is of the view that the Group has attained with
satisfaction all management objectives, business benchmarks and risk
indicators for the year ended 31 March 2010, despite extremely difficult
market conditions in China and around the world and amid various
uncertainties in 2009, by formulating specific strategies for the
exceptional times and leveraging opportunities under adverse conditions
in a proactive response to market changes. Looking to 2010 and
beyond, China and the world will embrace the “post-financial crisis
era”, in which the macro-economy will be seen gradually recovering,
while uncertainties will remain for 2010 as a result of proactive policy
adjustments undertaken by the PRC Government. To address the
situation, the Management intends to continue the persistent
implementation of the transformation strategy, while additional focus
will be given to the Services Business which promises to add value on a
sustainable basis, on top of our existing businesses and clientele.
Through resolute implementation of this strategy, we believe that the
Group will sustain long-term growth and deliver greater value to
shareholders and customers.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its operations with internally generated cash flows,
bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$15,670 million at 31 March 2010 which
were financed by total liabilities of HK$10,996 million, minority interests of
HK$473 million and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent of
HK$4,201 million. The Group's current ratio at 31 March 2010 was 1.43 as
compared to 1.45 at 31 March 20009.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, capital expenditure of HK$108 million
was mainly incurred for the acquisition of land, office equipment and IT
infrastructure facilities.

The aggregate borrowings as a ratio of equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent was 0.41 at 31 March 2010 as compared to 0.57 at 31 March
2009. The computation of the said ratio was based on the total interest-
bearing bank borrowings and bond payable of HK$1,723 million (31 March
2009: HK$1,803 million) and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent of HK$4,201 million (31 March 2009: HK$3,140 million).
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At 31 March 2010, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank borrowings
and bond payable of the Group was shown as follows:

RZE-ZF=ZA=+—RB AEENHERTERLEM
BEHOEREMNT

Denominated

Denominated in Hong Kong
in Renminbi dollars Total
HARY P81
REREN REREN &t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B F T B F T BEETF T
Current &
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, unsecured M ERITER - |ER 63,326 358,441 421,767
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured MERITER  BER 33,944 - 33,944
Bond payable EES 226,296 - 226,296
323,566 358,441 682,007
Non-current ¥ RE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, unsecured Mt SIRITER - EEM 650,600 390,000 1,040,600
Total st 974,166 748,441 1,722,607

Included in the Group's current bank borrowings of approximately HK$34
million extended by a financial institution to a subsidiary of the Group, Beijing
Digital China Si-Tech Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“STQ"), were secured
by a property situated in Mainland China with a value of approximately HK$23
million at 31 March 2010 and 22,290,980 issued shares of STQ in favour of
Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd. (the “Pledgee”), an
independent third party, for securing a guarantee issued by such Pledgee on
behalf of STQ. Included in the Group's current and non-current bank
borrowings of approximately HK$51 million and HK$651 million respectively
represented the term loans and are repayable from Year 2010 to 2013.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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In December 2007, Digital China (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company and three independent third parties entered into an agreement
with the underwriters to issue a bond to institutional and public investors in
Mainland China with an aggregate principal amount of RMB305 million.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group issued a RMB200 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$226 million) bond (the “Bond”) for financing the
development of IT services business. The Bond carries interest at a rate of
6.68% per annum, which is payable semi-annually and will mature in
December 2010. For the purpose of the issue of the Bond, Beijing
Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd. ("ZGC Guaranty”), an independent
third party, has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken joint and several
guarantee liabilities in full (the “Guarantee Liabilities”) in favour of Digital
China (China) Limited. Concurrently, the China Development Bank has
authorised its business department to undertake the general guarantee liability
in respect of the Guarantee Liabilities of ZGC Guaranty, and Digital China
Software Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has undertaken
joint and several liabilities in respect of the Guarantee Liabilities of ZGC
Guaranty.

The Group’s total available credit facilities at 31 March 2010 amounted to
HK$14,851 million, of which HK$2,180 million were in term loan facilities,
HK$11,147 million were in trade lines and HK$1,524 million were in short-term
and revolving money market facilities. At 31 March 2010, the facility drawn
down was HK$1,092 million in term loan facilities, HK$3,748 million in trade
lines and HK$34 million in short-term and revolving money market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued performance
bonds to some customers for potential claims of non-performance in order to
satisfy the specific requirements of these customers. As no material claims had
been made by the customers under such performance bonds in the past, the
management considers that the possibility of realisation of any actual material
liabilities arising from such performance bonds is remote.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 March 2010, the Group had approximately 9,600 (31 March 2009:
approximately 8,400) full-time employees. The majority of these employees
work in the PRC. The Group offers remuneration packages in line with
industry practice. Employees’ remuneration includes basic salaries and bonuses.
With the increase in the total number of staff to cope with its business
requirements, the Group has recorded a 17.05% increase in staff costs to
approximately HK$1,683 million for the year ended 31 March 2010 as
compared to approximately HK$1,438 million for the last financial year. In
order to attract and retain a high caliber of capable and motivated workforce,
the Company offers share options to staff based on the individual performance
and the achievements of the Company’s targets. The Group is committed to
providing its staff with various in-house and external training and development
programs.
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Exec_utive Directors
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Mr. GUO Wei, aged 47, is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group and is responsible for the strategic development and management
of the Group. Mr. Guo has been the Vice Chairman, the President and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group since February 2001 and was appointed
as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in December 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Guo obtained a Master's
degree from the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly
known as Graduate School of the University of Science and Technology of
China) in 1988. He joined the Legend group in 1988 and was once an
Executive Director and Senior Vice President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major
prizes included China’s Top Ten Outstanding Youths (2002), K2 £t Hi & & K
R (L4 (Practical and Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the
China Association for Science and Technology, China’s Top Ten Outstanding
Youths in Technology Innovation (1998), Future Economic Leader of China
(2003), and the First Annual China Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management
Golden Honour (2005).

He is currently a standing committee member of the 11th National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, member of the

Advisory Committee for State Informatization, a standing committee member
of the All China Youth Federation, Vice President of the Chinese Young
Entrepreneurs Association, and Vice President of Chinese Young Technology Professional Association. He has over 22 years of experience in business

Mr. GUO Wei, A% 4%

strategy development and business management.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. LIN Yang, aged 43, is the President of the Group and is responsible for the
overall business management of the Group. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor’s degree
in Computing Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005 with a
Master degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business. Mr. Lin was previously the Executive Vice President of the Group and
was appointed the President of the Company in April 2008. He joined the Legend
group in 1990 and has over 19 years of management experience in distribution
business.
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Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, & #% 4%

Non-executive Directors

EHTEE

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, aged 52, is a Non-executive Director of the Company. He
received his Bachelor Degree in Engineering from the Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in
the PRC in 1982 and a Master degree from Princeton University in International
Political Economy in 1989. Mr. Yan joined the Company in December 2007. He is
currently the Managing Partner of SAIF Partners (“SAIF"). Prior to joining SAIF, he
was the Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong office of the Emerging
Markets Partnership from 1994 to 2001. From 1993 to 1994, he worked at Sprint
International Corporation as the Director of Strategic Planning and Business
Development for the Asia Pacific Region. From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Yan worked in
the World Bank and the renowned Hudson Institute as an Economist and Research
Fellow respectively in Washington, DC. From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief
Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan was voted by the China Venture
Capital Association as “The Venture Investor of the Year” in both 2004 and 2007.
He was also selected as one of the “Fifty Finest Private Equity Investors in the
World” by the Private Equity International in 2007, “No. 1 Venture Capitalist of the
Year" by Forbes (China) in 2008 and 2009. He was the “Venture Capital Professional
of the Year” by Asia Venture Capital Journal in 2009. Under Mr. Yan's leadership,
SAIF was voted as “VC firm of the Year” in 2004 and 2007 and it was also named
as “The Best Performing Fund in Asia” by Private Equity International in 2005, 2006
and 2008, "The Best Growth Investment Fund of the Year” in 2009.

Digital China Holdings Limited

Currently, Mr. Yan is the Independent Non-executive Director of China Resources
Land Limited, and Fosun International Limited; Non-executive Director of MOBI
Development Co., Ltd. and NVC Lighting Holding Limited (all listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Yan is also a Director of Acorn International
Inc., Giant Interactive Group Inc., (both listed on The New York Stock Exchange),
ATA Inc,, (listed on the NASDAQ, USA) and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management
Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). He was previously a Director of China
Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd (listed on The New York Stock Exchange) during the
period from May 2004 to September 2008, and an Independent Non-executive
Director of China Oilfield Services Limited and Stone Group Holdings Limited during
the period from September 2002 to June 2009 and June 2001 to November 2009
respectively (all listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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Mr. TANG Xudong, aged 48, is a Non-executive Director of the Company. He
graduated from Central University for Nationalities in 1986 and got an EMBA degree
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, senior engineer in 2005. Mr. Tang
joined the Company in December 2007. He joined Legend Holdings Limited in 1990,
and used to serve as General Manager of Department of Justice, General Manager
of Human Resources Department, and Vice Head of the Corporate Planning Office
of the group and is currently the Vice President of Legend Holdings Limited and
Director of Raycom Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. Mr. Tang has over 12 years of
experience in corporate headquarter administration, business development,
investment management, human resources management and legal affairs. Mr. Tang
set up the Department of Legal Affairs in Legend Holdings Limited which has
prominent achievements on legal risk management and litigation affairs.

Since 2001, Legend Holdings Limited started new business in investment, with an
overall business scope in IT, venture capital, buyout investment and real estate. As
Vice President of Legend Holdings Limited, Mr. Tang is in charge of the corporate
administration and investment in incubation. Mr. Tang was previously a Director of
Beijing Centergate Technologies (Holding) Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) during the period from June 2002 to December 2005. He was also the
vice president of Beijing Intellectual Property Research Council.
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Mr. SHENG Gang, aged 36, is a Non-executive Director of the Company.
He holds a degree of Bachelor in Economics in International Accounting
from Renmin University of China and a degree of Master of Business
Administration from Peking University, Guanghua School of Management.
Mr. SHENG is a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and has over 14
years of experience in providing corporate finance advisory services and
investment management. Mr. SHENG joined the Company in November
2009. He joined SAIF Partners since March 2007 and is currently its Vice
President. Prior to joining SAIF Partners, he was the Associate Director of
Cowen Latitude Asia (formerly known as Latitude Capital Group). Since June
2009, Mr. SHENG has been the director of Yayi International Inc. (a
company listed on the OTC Bulletin Board, USA, Symbol: YYIN).
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Mr. QIU Zhongwei, aged 41, is a Non-executive Director of the Company. He
holds a degree of Bachelor in Engineering from Xi‘an Jiaotong University and
an Executive MBA from Kellogg-HKUST. Mr. Qiu joined the Company in
February 2009. He joined Hony Capital in 2005 and is currently its Managing
Director. Prior to joining Hony Capital, Mr. Qiu was the Section Chief of China
Huaneng Group from 1990 to 2000 and was the Chairman and the President
of Silverite Holding Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 600683) from 2000 to 2004. Since 2006, Mr. Qiu has been the
Director of Changsha Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and Technology
Development Co., Ltd (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
000157). Mr. Qiu has over 19 years of experience in corporate management
and operating investment.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BEENSEERBAR

Independent Non-executive Directors
BNIFHITESF

Mr. HU Zhaoguang, aged 71, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company. He graduated from the Tsinghua University in 1964 and also
completed a management course in Sweden. Mr. Hu has over 38 years of
experience in economics, finance and corporate management and was wide
recognised for his work in these areas. Mr. Hu joined the Company in September
2004. He is the Independent Non-executive Director of BBMG Corporation (listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was previously the Chairman
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited) and its parent company, Beijing Holdings Limited, and an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Overseas Land & Investment
Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). From February
1993 to January 1998, Mr. Hu served as a Vice Mayor of the Beijing Municipal
Government. From 1988 to 1993, Mr. Hu served as the Director of Beijing New
Technology Development Zone and Chief Executive of Beijing Haidian District
Government.
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Mr. HU Zhaoguang, #AREfE %&£

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10



Professor WU Jinglian, R#3E %1%

35

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERBEEEAR

Professor WU Jinglian, aged 80, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He graduated from Fudan University. Professor Wu joined
the Company in April 2001. He is a senior research fellow at the
Development Research Center of the State Council and a professor at the
Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and China
Europe International Business School. He was previously an Executive Director
at the Development Research Center of the State Council and a Deputy
Director of the Programming Office for Economic Reform of the State
Council. Professor Wu was also a visiting fellow at Yale University, a fellow
at St. Antony’s College of Oxford University, a chair professor at the Stanford
University and a visiting fellow at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
Professor Wu is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of China Unicom
(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as China Unicom Limited, listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BEENSEERBAR

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 45, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He holds a master degree in management conferred by Guangzhou
Jinan University, the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, an associate member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) and has over 22 years of experience in auditing, taxation, management and
financial advisory. Mr. Wong joined the Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong
worked for KPMG, an international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of both China Oriental
Group Company Limited and Wai Kee Holdings Limited and an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of eForce Holdings Limited (all listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was once an Independent Non-executive Director
of Lightscape Technologies Inc (listed and traded on the OTC Bulletin Board in the
United States of America), Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sys Solutions Holdings Limited, listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and Yardway Group Limited (listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wong is a Director of both Union
Alpha C.P.A. Limited and Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public Accountants Limited, both
are professional accounting firms, and a founding director and member of Francis M C

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, EX R %4 Wong Charitable Foundation Limited, a charitable institution.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXERBEEEASR

Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter, aged 53, is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company. He graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
Management Information Systems from the University of British Columbia, Canada,
1980. Mr. Kwan is a Chartered Accountant and is a member of the Canadian Institute
of Chartered Accountants. Mr. Kwan joined the Company in August 2006. In addition
to his public practice with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Vancouver, Canada, he has over
19 years of experience in IT related industries. Mr. Kwan has held senior finance and
management positions in Asia Pacific and has worked in Canada, Hong Kong,
Australia and Singapore. He is a Director of MM PowerPlus Busway (HK) Limited, an
electrical products manufacturing company owned by himself and his partner. Mr.
Kwan was previously a Director of Avaya Global Connect Limited (India listed) during
the period from January 2004 to April 2005.

KWAN Ming Heung, Peter£4% A+ =5 AARBIBULIERTES - TR —
NNEEEERMERATINEFGEEABIREHBETEANEREANE L
B oKwank EA—ERTEHMRNERETEFMAEEE - Kwanf £ R
ZEERFENAMARRE - BHRTENEXR BT EEERKEGHMELAD
SN  WEITHERETEBRA T AFER o Kwant ER DN KT FiHE B E
SRMBERERBA YEMEKR - FE RMERFMEIE - REAMMEE
FBAERLA (—FKBELEBHABZEHRERMELT) 2ESE - Kwanf £ R
—ETME-AE_ZTLENAHMEE HiEAvaya Global Connect Limited (E/E
FizE=S -

2009/10 4 %R MM EHEBERER A A



38

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BEENSEERBAER

Mr. HE Jun, aged 49, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and is
responsible for the overall management of the corporate finance, risk control
and capital operation of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. He graduated in 1984 with a degree in Engineering from
North China University of Technology. He also achieved an MBA in Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business in 2006. Mr. He joined the Legend group
in 1998 and was mainly responsible for the management and financial work
to the group. He has extensive experience in financial management, finance,
investment and risk control.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXERREEEAR

Mr. YAN Guorong, aged 36, is a Standing Vice President of the Group. Mr.
Yan graduated from Renmin University of China with a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics and obtained an EMBA degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business. He joined the Legend group in 1996 and has been responsible for
the day-to-day operation and management of the company’s network and
value-added business. Mr. Yan was responsible for strategic planning,
operational management and regional management of the Systems Technology
Services SBU of #& M €85 (fR B) A R A & (Digital China (China) Limited). He
has over 10 years of experience in distribution and sales management of IT
networking products. He is now responsible for managing the overall
businesses in pan enterprises level of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXREEEEAR

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 43, is the Company Secretary of the Company.
Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in
financial management and corporate administration. He is mainly responsible
for the financial reporting and listing issues of the Group.
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The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of corporate
governance so as to enhance its transparency, accountability and corporate
value to the shareholders.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles,
code provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the “Code
on Corporate Governance Practices” (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Code throughout the year, except for deviations
from the code provisions A.2.1, A.4.1, A.4.2, and B.1.1, details of which are
explained in the respective sections of this report.

Moreover, the Company publishes quarterly financial results of the Group by
way of announcement which exceeds the code provisions set out in the Code.
However, the Company does not publish and distribute report for quarterly
financial results of the Group as the Board is of the view that publication of
quarterly financial reports does not bring significant benefits to shareholders,
but at the cost of their own.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code") as its code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 March 2010, the Board comprised ten Directors, including two
Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-
executive Directors. To the best knowledge of the Company, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the heading “Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 28 to 40 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall strategy and
the leadership and control of the Group such as the Group's long term
objectives and strategies, the approval of the Group’s corporate and capital
structure, financial reporting and controls, internal controls and risk
management, material contracts, communication with the shareholders, the
Board membership and other appointments, remuneration of Directors and
other senior management, delegation of authority to Board committees and
corporate governance matters.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board held four regular meetings
at approximately quarterly intervals and two additional meetings where the
Directors attended either in person or by other means of electronic
communication. The individual attendance records of each of the Directors at
the Board meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2010 are set out

Exg (@)

AeRBE
EXERRANIEAEE  BERE  SEFIRER  fln
AEBEZEREARRER HREAFEZOENERERE -
HHERLERE AREZENERERE BRAH BER
e ERERREREMEFEFR EEREMSEEEA
BZHH SEFZEeZRERLCEEREER -

RBE-Z-—ZF=A=+—-HILFERN BFSETMER
EHEH  KOEBFE-REMABIHNEGHE EFHHRIR
NHEMEFBASTALE REBEE-T-TF=A=1+—R
LEER SESRNESTE R CEALFELERINOT

below:

Number of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of

Directors the respective Directors
EEEREFHBED
BEE HESE SRBTRE
Executive Directors HITEE
GUO Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) BE(EEEEEHNTE) 6/6
LIN Yang (President) W5 (42 %) 6/6
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Andrew Y. YAN 8 it 4/6
TANG Xudong BBR 4/6
SHENG Gang (appointed on 10 November 2009) B (R-_FZENF+—HTHEZE) 2/2
QIU Zhongwei B & 4/6
CHEN Derek (resigned on 10 November 2009) CHEN Derek (R=ZZFZF /NN F+—H+HEE) 2/4
Independent Non-executive Directors HUIHRTEE
HU Zhaoguang HA PR & 6/6
WU Jinglian Rz 6/6
WONG Man Chung, Francis BXR 5/6
KWAN Ming Heung, Peter KWAN Ming Heung, Peter 3/6
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws")
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board for
consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment of
their professional qualifications, experience and their possible contribution to
the Group. In November 2009, Mr. SHENG Gang was appointed as a Non-
executive Director with unanimous approval by the Directors.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed for
any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the Chairman of the Board or
the Managing Director) are subject to retirement by rotation at each annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws and shall be eligible for re-
election. The Board considers that the retirement by rotation at each annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws has given the shareholders
of the Company the right to approve the continuation of the service of the
Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment. Every director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Following the appointment of Mr. SHENG Gang as a Non-executive Director of
the Company on 10 November 2009 by the Board, a special general meeting
of the Company was held on 24 November 2009 for approving certain
discloseable and connected transactions. Such special general meeting was the
first general meeting after Mr. SHENG's appointment but resolution for the re-
election of Mr. SHENG was not put forward to the shareholders for
consideration at such meeting. This is due to the fact that the special general
meeting held on 24 November 2009 was an adjourned meeting and according
to the Bye-Laws, any new business cannot be transacted at an adjourned
general meeting. Mr. SHENG will therefore be subject to re-election by
shareholders only at the next general meeting of the Company.

Under the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to one-third shall retire from office, the Chairman of the
Board or the Managing Director shall not, whilst holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei, Chairman of the
Board, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed four Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that they are independent.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee was established on 31 August 2006 with specific
written terms of reference. At the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee was made up of four members which comprised two Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Andrew Y. YAN as the Chairman and Mr. QIU
Zhongwei, and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WONG
Man Chung, Francis and Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter.

Code Provision B.1.1 stipulates that a majority of the members of the
remuneration committee should be independent non-executive directors.
Following the appointment of Mr. QIU Zhongwei as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2009, only half of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors. Since each
of the committee members has extensive experience in setting up the
remuneration policy for the directors and senior management, the Board
considers that this combination of the committee members can mostly
conform to the needs of the Company and is best to the optimal efficiency
for the operation of the Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among others, the
determination, subject to the agreement with the Board, the framework or
policy for the remuneration of the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, the
Executive Directors and such other members of the executive management as
it is designated to consider. The Remuneration Committee shall also determine
the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director and other
senior executives including bonuses, incentive payments and share options or
other share awards within the terms of the agreed policy and in consultation
with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer as appropriate.

As there was no major change in the remuneration policy, no Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the year ended 31 March 2010.

Details of the Director's emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2010 are
set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. GUO Wei has been taking up the dual role as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since 19 December 2007. Mr. GUO has
extensive experience in business strategic development and management and
is responsible for overseeing the whole business, strategic development and
management of the Group. The Board believes that the dual role of Mr. GUO
will enable the consistency between the setting up and the implementation of
the business strategy and benefit the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors
and are responsible for, among others, the integrity of the financial statements
of the Group, reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls and
risk management systems, reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal
audit function in the context of the Group's overall risk management system
and oversight of the relationship with external Auditors.

Following the amendment to the Code Provision C.3.3, the Terms of Reference
of the Audit Committee was revised by the inclusion of an annual review of
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget to the duties of the Audit Committee. This
amendment to the Terms of Reference was approved by the Board on 22 May
20009.

The Audit Committee held four regular meetings during the year ended 31
March 2010 at approximately quarterly intervals where the members attended
either in person or by other means of electronic communication. The individual
attendance records of each of the committee members at the Audit
Committee meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2010 are set out
below:

Committee Members
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Audit Committee has reviewed with
senior management and the Auditors of the Company their respective audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, legal
and regulatory compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters. The Board has, through the
Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditors of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2010, remuneration to Auditors of the Company
were approximately HK$4,100,000 for audit services and HK$1,528,000 for
non-audit services (in which agreed-upon procedures on connected
transactions was HK$60,000, agreed-upon procedures on quarterly/interim
results was HK$450,000 and tax advisory services was HK$1,018,000).

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Principle

The Board should ensure that the internal control of the issuer is solid, sound,
effective, so as to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s assets.

Internal Control and Risk Management

A well-designed internal control system is very important to the protection of
the Group's assets, the reliability of its financial statements, and its compliance
with legislation and rules. As such, the Group is committed to establishing and
maintaining a sound internal control system to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against any serious misrepresentation or loss, and to
manage, though not eliminate, any risk of serious mistakes regarding the
operation system and the objectives of the Group. The Board also perceives its
overall responsibility for the internal control, financial control and risk
management of the Company, and will review its effectiveness from time to
time.

The Group has an Internal Audit Department, which is responsible for the
internal audit of the Group, independent assessment of risks, and internal
control procedures and system, and reports its findings, with recommendations,
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

The Internal Audit Department will assess the risks to which the Company is
exposed, and formulate an audit plan on that basis annually, so as to ensure
that the internal audit covers all areas of high risks. The audit plan will be
submitted to the Audit Committee for approval. The scope of audit review is
determined based on the risk assessment results. Special reviews will be
conducted on matters which are of concern to the management or the Audit
Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Monitoring Procedures

The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control system through
the following principal procedures:

(1) Establishing a reasonable and effective organisation structure with clear
functions, responsibilities and authority;

(2) Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation and budget
management; formulating business plans and financial budgets annually;
rationally adjusting the organisation structure based on business
planning; ensuring the effective operation of the organisation; reviewing
the implementation of budgets and making reasonable adjustment
based on the latest conditions;

3 The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing the comprehensibility
and effectiveness of the monitoring of principal business, reporting its
principal findings, with recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a
quarterly basis; and

(4) The Auditors — making a “management proposal” in its audit of annual
results, recommending ways to address some internal management
areas which are correspondingly weak; the management making serious
reviews, and making and submitting improvement proposals to the
Audit Committee.

Assessment of Annual Internal Monitoring

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Internal Audit Department adopted a
risk-based methodology to focus on and monitor principal workflow, and
reported the internal audit results to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis. Through the Audit Committee, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of
the internal control system of the Group. The internal control system covers all
important matters to be monitored, including finance, operation and
compliance matters, as well as risk management functions. The Board firmly
believes that the Group was in full compliance with the internal control
provisions set out in the governance rules in the 2009/10 financial year.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern basis in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

The statement of the Auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 61 to 62 of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEFRE

The directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of general information
technology products and systems products; and provision of supply chain
services and information technology services.

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March 2010 are set
out in note 20 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the state of
affairs at that date of the Company and the Group are set out in the financial
statements on pages 63 to 173 of this annual report.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final dividend of
28.26 HK cents (2009: 14.55 HK cents) per share in respect of the year ended
31 March 2010 to shareholders. This recommendation has been incorporated
in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the consolidated and company statements of financial
position respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 174 of this
annual report. The five-year financial summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefor, in the share capital
of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 37(b) to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity set out on page 67 of this annual
report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated
in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$1,095,100,000, of which HK$288,505,000 has been proposed as a final
dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in
the amount of HK$984,342,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws
of Bermuda although there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LIN Yang (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. TANG Xudong

Mr. SHENG Gang (appointed on 10 November 2009)
Mr. QIU Zhongwei

Mr. CHEN Derek (resigned on 10 November 2009)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Zhaoguang

Professor WU Jinglian

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr. LIN Yang,
Professor Wu Jinglian, Mr. TANG Xudong , Mr. QIU Zhongwei and Mr. KWAN
Ming Heung, Peter will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Bye-
Law 99 of the Bye-Laws. Mr. SHENG Gang will retire from office in
accordance with Bye-Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws.
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BEREEWRS

DIRECTORS" SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive directors of the Company entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall continue in force unless and until
terminated by (i) either the Company or the director serving on the other not
less than three months’ notice, or (i) his retirement as a director without
being re-elected as a director by the shareholders in an annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws, or (iii) in the event of the director’s
default under the terms of the service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service agreement with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than the
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 18 July 2002. Details of
movements in the share options during the year are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions, if any, of each Director
and chief executive of the Company and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the directors and chief executive
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be and are recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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Andrew Y. YAN Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4)/ 139,111,744/ 27.76
Interests of parties to concert group agreement (Note 5) 283,363,107
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)
Notes:

1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the Company.

2. It comprised 1,504,000 shares and 960,000 share options held by Mr. GUO Wei. The share
options were granted on 21 May 2008 and are exercisable from 21 May 2009 to 20 May
2016 at an exercise price of HK$5.89 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the
Company.

3. 89,414,286 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Kosalaki Investments Limited
(“KIL"), incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability, of which
Mr. GUO Wei is the controlling shareholder, therefore, Mr. GUO Wei was deemed to be
interested in such shares in which KIL was interested.

4. 139,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Sparkling Investment (BVI)
Limited (“SIBL"), which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Ill L.P.. SAIF Partners Ill L.P. is
controlled by SAIF IIl GP, L.P. which is controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF IIl GP
Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such shares in
which SIBL was interested.

5. A concert group agreement dated 1 August 2007 entered into among the concert group,
namely SIBL, Charmway Trading Limited (“CTL"), Fine Elite Management Limited (“FEML"),
KIL and Mr. GUO Wei.

6. It comprised 56,000 shares and 1,000,000 share options held by Mr. LIN Yang. The share
options were granted on 21 May 2008 and are exercisable from 21 May 2009 to 20 May
2016 at an exercise price of HK$5.89 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the
Company.

7. The percentage of aggregate holding was calculated on the basis of 1,020,767,581 shares
of the Company in issue as at the 31 March 2010.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company or their associates had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the directors and chief executive were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2010, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons, not being a director or chief executive of the Company, had the
following interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

BEREERS
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Percentage of

Number of aggregate
Name Capacity shares holding (%)
(Note 1) (Note 11)
EHBEZ
£ 1B &5 BRHER B2 (%)
(Hrat1) (Hfzt11)
Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner/ 139,111,744/ 27.76
(Note 2) (#17#2) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
E=BEEAN
EAR—BTHEEHEN R (W 710)
SAIF IIl GP Capital Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation/ 139,111,744/ 27.76
(Note 2) (#17#2) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
RmEBEzERE S
EAR—BTHEEHENER (W70
Charmway Trading Limited Beneficial owner/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
(Note 3) (#17£3) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
E=EEAN/
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POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

FTERFRRROREBROzESR XA (K)

Percentage of

Number of aggregate
Name Capacity shares holding (%)
(Note 1) (Note 11)
ERFEZ
728 L) BRHER B2 (%)
(Hrat1) (Hzt11)
Hony Capital Fund IlI, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
(Note 3) (#17#3) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
XHrE RS
BERFR—BTBHEEGEN#ER (710
Hony Capital Fund Ill, G.P. L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
(Note 3) (#17#3) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
XHrE s ER S
ERFR—BTBHEEGENER (710
Hony Capital Fund Ill, G.P. Limited Interest of a controlled corporation/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
(Note 3) (#17#3) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
THrE ER S
ERFR—BTBHEEGENER (710
Hony Capital Management IlI Limited Interest of a controlled corporation/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
(Note 3) (#17£3) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
RHmrE R
BERAR—BITBHEEHENER (710
John Huan ZHAO (Note 3) Interest of a controlled corporation/ 52,373,077/ 27.76
Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107

84 (7 23)

(Note 10)
REmEBEzER
ERAR—BITBEEHZENER (K 710)
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POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

FTERFRRROREBRO 2EE R KA (F)

Percentage of

Number of aggregate
Name Capacity shares holding (%)
(Note 1) (Note 11)
ERFEZ
£ L) BRHER B2 (%)
(Hrat1) (Hzt11)
Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner/ 89,414,286/ 2776
(Note 4) (/] :#4) Interests of parties to concert group agreement 283,363,107
(Note 10)
ERBANS
BERFR—BTBHEEGEN#ER (710
Legend Holdings Limited Beneficial owner/ 15,013,077/ 15.32
(Notes 5 & 6) Interest of a controlled corporation 141,368,642
BB AR B R A] ERBANS
(Mt 5#556) EEEERER
Employees’ Shareholding Society of Legend Interests of controlled corporations 156,381,719 15.32
Holdings Limited
(Notes 5 & 7)
BEZERERARBISRS REAERER
(Hret57)
FMR LLC (Note 8) (1 it8) Investment manager 63,843,000 6.25
REKRE
Allianz SE (Note 9) (K17£9) Interests of controlled corporations 51,584,000 5.05

REEEE S
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT FERRAROREBROZERZR XA (H)

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes: lEE

1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the Company. 1.

2. 139,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by SIBL, which is wholly-owned 2.
by SAIF Partners Il L.P.. SAIF Partners Il L.P. is controlled by SAIF Ill GP, L.P. which is
controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, director of the Company, through SAIF Ill GP Capital
Ltd..

3. 52,373,077 shares of the Company were beneficially held by CTL, which is wholly-owned 3.
by Hony Capital Fund IlI, L.P.. Hony Capital Fund Ill, L.P. is controlled by Hony Capital Fund
IIl, G.P. L.P., which is controlled by Hony Capital Fund Ill, G.P. Limited. Hony Capital Fund IIl,
G.P. Limited is wholly-owned by Hony Capital Management III Limited. Hony Capital
Management Il Limited is owned as to 55% by Mr. John Huan ZHAO and 45% indirectly
by Legend Holdings Limited through Right Lane Limited.

4. KIL incorporated in the BVI with limited liability, of which Mr. GUO Wei, director of the 4.
Company, is the controlling shareholder.

5. The English names “Legend Holdings Limited” and “Employees’ Shareholding Society of 5.
Legend Holdings Limited” are direct transliterations of their Chinese registered names "
EERAER AR and "BHEE IR B IR AR B TR R 2 respectively.

6. 141,368,642 shares were held by Right Lane Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary and a 6.
controlled corporation of Legend Holdings Limited, and therefore Legend Holdings Limited
was deemed to be interested in such shares by virtue of the SFO.

7. Employees’ Shareholding Society of Legend Holdings Limited was the controlling 7.
shareholder of Legend Holdings Limited and was therefore deemed to be interested in the
156,381,719 shares in which Legend Holdings Limited was interested.

8. FMR LLC was deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 63,843,000 shares by virtue of 8.
the SFO. Those interests comprised deemed interests in 58,387,300 shares and 5,455,700
shares held by Fidelity Management & Research Company and Fidelity Management Trust
Company, Pyramis Global Advisors LLC respectively.

9. 51,584,000 shares in aggregate were held by RCM Asia Pacific Limited of 20,298,000 9.
shares, Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd. of 2,433,000 shares, Allianz Global Investors
Luxembourg S.A. of 18,340,000 shares and Allianz Global Investors Ireland Ltd. of
10,513,000 shares. All of them were indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

10. A concert group agreement dated 1 August 2007 entered into among the concert group, 10.
namely SIBL, CTL, FEML, KIL and Mr. GUO Wei.

11. The percentage of aggregate holding was calculated on the basis of 1,020,767,581 shares 1.
of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2010.

AXHMBEBEES 2RARTABRNDZIEFR -

139,111,744 A ) B% 15 B3 SIBLE 22 35 4 + i SIBLEA SAIF Partners 11l
LP.ZE¥EAR ° SAIF Partners IIl L.P. B3 SAIF Il GP, L.P.AT#E &1 = SAIF Ill
GP, L.P.F5 AR /A A) 2 $ [ ok 5% £ 15 #8 SAIF 11l GP Capital Ltd. BT {2 &I ©

52,373,077 AR F R R CTLE & #5 8 - M CTLAI B Hony Capital
Fund Ill, LP.Z & # A ° Hony Capital Fund Ill, L.P. 83 Hony Capital Fund
Ill, G.P. L.P.FT#2 4l » fiHony Capital Fund Ill, G.P. L.P. 8l &1 Hony Capital
Fund Ill, G.P. Limited Fff 4% # ° Hony Capital Fund Ill, G.P. Limited £
Hony Capital Management IIl Limited & & # % i Hony Capital
Management Il Limited RI| g # < % 5t 4 ¥ 5 E55% < # 2 2 Bk A8
ERERARFEBEAERADMERES H45%EE -

KLA—FMAEBRABRRHEEEMRLZERRE  ARAEED
REERERBR -

H 3 4 T [Legend Holdings Limited] & [Employees’ Shareholding
Society of Legend Holdings Limited | 3 A Rl HE# @ EaEf &R 2
PNERHEERERAR ] RIHEERERARBRIERE] -

141,368,642k M R B IERBEBR AR Z 2 EHBMBARAIRE
FEERBAAERARSE At REZHFRAEGKH - BEE
BREBRARBRIERAEZERD 2= -

BHERZERARAABISRENHBERERAT ZERKRR
Hut - ARG ERERAEBBZERBRAFREAE2156,381,7198 i
2z e

BREBEZEHFRAEKR - FMRLLCHE R VEHE A & $£63,843,0008 &
ZHEDE o %% 7 25 B 4F H Fidelity Management & Research Company
K Fidelity Management Trust Company * Pyramis Global Advisors LLC
7 B ¥ 5 2 58,387,300 % 5,455,700 % ik {0 R 25

% #£51,584,000/% A2 15 FHRCM Asia Pacific Limited$% 420,298,000
Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd. ¥ %52,433,0004% * Allianz Global
Investors Luxembourg S.A.3% % 18,340,000/% K& Allianz Global Investors
Ireland Ltd. ¥ % 10,513,000% ° # 5 & M Allianz SE 5 5% AT #2 )

A— T8 EE AISIBL CTL  FEML  KILEHBAELER=-Z T
+tENAR—BI I Z2—RTBHEBE HE -

AEBEZEAE N RARIR-_TE—ZTE=A=1+—HZE%H
178 121,020,767,581 % /3 = £ 5+ & o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Company had not been BREXHBEEEN RZTE—ZFTF=A=1+—H ' BELM
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in shares or ATEHRERRARARAZRHDXABAIRGE - HEER
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in the BEH KA EIEG EXVIEIBCRBETFHETNELMAH 2
register required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO. EmEARE °
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group entered into the following connected
and continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules:

Connected Transaction

Following agreements were entered into on 15 September 2009:

(@)  HINEIEE{F AR QA (Digital China Software Ltd) (“DC Software”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into Equity Interest
Transfer Agreement with b5 M B 5 S BT A1 TP AR AR (Beijing
Digital China Information Technology Academe Co. Ltd.) (“Beijing
DCITACL") in relation to the transfer of the 19.51% equity interest in 1%
M ETE 1 BRI RIS B R A7) (Digital China Information Technology
Service Co. Ltd) ("DCITS") to Beijing DCITACL at a consideration of
RMB400 million for the purpose of enabling DC Software to grant
interest in DCITS to the selected employees as rewards of their
contribution to DCITS.  The consideration would be paid in the
following manner:

- RMB6 million within 30 days after completion of the transfer of
the equity interest

- RMB12 million on or before 31 December 2011
- RMB12 million on or before 31 December 2013
- RMB370 million on or before 31 December 2015

(b) As security and guarantee of Beijing DCITACL's due performance of its
obligations under the Equity Interest Transfer Agreement, DC Software
entered into the following two share pledge agreements:

(i) DCITS Share Pledge Agreement with Beijing DCITACL for
pledging of the 19.51% equity interest in DCITS until the
obligations under the Equity Interest Transfer Agreement are fully
discharged; and

(ii) Beijing DCITACL Share Pledge Agreement with shareholders of
Beijing DCITACL for pledging of the entire equity interest in
Beijing DCITACL until the obligations under the Equity Interest
Transfer Agreement are fully discharged.

() DC Software entered into Beijing DCITACL Equity Interest Transfer and
Pre-emptive Right Agreement with shareholders of Beijing DCITACL.
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HEXS
RZBZEAFNATHEBE FIMARET

@  AMNEBHEGERRARD(HMNEANE]) ARF2EHE
BEMBLAR  EAERSEMNBBELSRMAREERA
A(MHERMES DRI R EEEHRAERAUREA
RE4008 B WEHMBESE B MR AR AR (74
N {E 2 1)19.51% R T 4L s a8 N 2 B 8 £ (8 48 M &R i
BUMEEEERHMMESZER  FRERSHM
MESMEEMZEE - AERERABATHA XN :

- ARBAETARREERE TRKI0AAX
f
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Bk 2z Al s T
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Bk 2 B s fF
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Bk Al s T

by ERILERBNEEXZEBRBTHENREEZEGE AL
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A :
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A MAE R 219.51% R EER - BEERREE
FEHFECEETE2RBRLE R

(i) EAERMNE R Z BREREFT T mie M= B ik
RERER - SRHMNES 22 MRS -
BEERNBREEREHHEZEETE2HEBER/IL -

©  FRME R RARINE B 2 BRRFRFT AL R A M S Bk
BHEERBEBERBZ -

BN B 4E IR B R A A

= _f?’}:'*

e



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Connected Transaction (continued)

Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is a
connected person of the Company, Mr. GUO is a controlling shareholder of
Beijing DCITACL, Beijing DCITACL is an associate of Mr. GUO and therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The above
transaction constituted connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and have obtained the independent shareholders’ approval at the
adjourned Special General Meeting held on 24 November 2009.

For the details of the connected transaction, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 15 September 2009 and 24 November
2009 and the circular of the Company dated 6 October 20009.

Continuing Connected Transactions

(a) On 7 November 2007, the Company entered into a master sales
agreement with Lenovo Group Limited (“Lenovo”) (the “2007 Master
Sales Agreement”) with a term of three years commencing on 20
December 2007 in relation to the sales of IT products and the provision
of services by the Group to Lenovo and/or its subsidiaries (the “Lenovo
Group”) (the “Sales Arrangements”). On 16 October 2009, the
Company entered into a master sales agreement with Lenovo (the “2009
Master Sales Agreement”) with a term of three years commencing on 1
April 2010 which superseded the 2007 Master Sales Agreement in
relation to the Sales Arrangements.

(b) On 16 October 2008, the Company entered into a master purchases
agreement with Lenovo (the “2008 Master Purchases Agreement”) with
a term commencing from 25 November 2008 to 31 March 2011 in
relation to the purchases of IT products by the Group from the Lenovo
Group and the provision of services by the Lenovo Group to the Group.

Legend Holdings Limited (“Legend”) is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of being a substantial shareholder of the Company. Lenovo is an
associate of Legend by virtue of Legend being its controlling shareholder.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, Legend and any of its associates are regarded as
connected persons of the Company. Lenovo is therefore also regarded as a
connected person of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the aggregate amount of the continuing
connected transactions in relation to the sales by the Group to Lenovo Group
was approximately HK$28,833,000 and the aggregate amount of the
continuing connected transactions in relation to the purchases by the Group
from Lenovo Group was approximately HK$3,132,257,000.

Digital China Holdings Limited

HEXZREABERS (&)

BEXS(H)
ARBEIRREFDTEBRELERAARFZHAEAL B
TEFRBIETHINES 2BBEER b MNER BB EE

SEA BHREETRIERWNESRERR ZEEA
T-RELTRINFUAE LR ZBAHEEIHRER
TEENET AT HRBRTHRREN RGBS LRE
B3 A R A B o

FHBEERSZFE  F2BARRAEHA-ZZTNALFNA
THRR-ZEZENF+— H THRZAEREARABHA
“EEAFTARNAZA

KERERS
@ MNZZTZLF+-ALH ARFEBEBEEERLQ
A(HEDITI-—MHA_Z2LF+-_A-THER

%Ei%%$%lﬁ%ﬁ§mlkﬁ%ﬁ%%@&/
HEAMBRA(HEEED(HERH) 2 QEEHE
(ZZTtRHEERZ)  R-TTAFTA+T <A
ARAREBBIY - NEAREERHYE T FTF
MA—RERM=F2RHEHRZ(—TTNBHE
Bl UMK - LBHERZ

by MNIZEZENFTATRB AREEBEETL—MA
ZEEN\EF+-AZ+REEZE-—H=ZA=+—
At BRASEMBELEERBTERARABEE
EMAEERHREZEARERZ(-STNERE
gl

GREERAERABA(HBZERDEARTD ZETERR - Bt
MEAREZBENLT - BRERSBBZZERRER &
BEABEERZHEEAN - RELEWREY - BAZREE
EABEADKRRRBRDF ZBEAL 885 E bk %
BERRAZBEANL -

BE-_T-TF-A=+—HLEE BEEHEISHEHN
2$%@ﬁ%%%m%IZ@ﬁﬁm%%MBzﬁﬂwE&
HEEFERSERMZASERNBEEEEREZASEYD
#7885 3,132,257,000 7T °
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by the
directors of the Company (including the independent non-executive directors).
The independent non-executive directors have confirmed that these continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties;
and

(0) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have also confirmed that these continuing
connected transactions:

(a) have received the approval of the board of directors of the Company;
(b) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

() have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(d) have not exceeded their respective caps disclosed in the announcements
dated 7 November 2007 and 16 October 2008.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transactions stated hereinabove.

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2010 are disclosed in note 43 to the financial
statements.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donation of HK$204,000 (2009:
HK$3,405,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest
customers was less than 30% (2009: less than 30%) of the Group's total
turnover for the year.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers was approximately 45% (2009: approximately 41%) of the Group's
total purchases and the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's
largest supplier was approximately 15% (2009: approximately 12%) for the
year.

None of the directors, any of their associates or shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s major customers or
suppliers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2010, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 of
the Group were audited by Ernst & Young.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company has
maintained the amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 March 2010.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

REREES
N

GUO Wei 35
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer & jE # B JE#H 7T E

Hong Kong, 20 July 2010
&% —F-TFLA-1H

Digital China Holdings Limited

B
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75 #£3,405,0007T) °

FEEFERHER
RAEERAREAEBAARFAR AL BREAERR
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RAFERNREAEERAAEREHAL ZREFAEREEK
BEE AN A% (CEENE: H41%) RREAE
ERAREE 2 RBBEMIEE LN A% (ZETAE:
#412%) °

EE IAREIBBEARBRRBEEMAEFALAE
BITRABBS%E)MEE LAAEETERTPRERET
BREMERER
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Elf ERNST & YOUNG
=7 ik

To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Digital China Holdings Limited set out
on pages 63 to 173, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

2009/10 F 5
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT
BB RS

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and of the Group's
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

RKEEF M EHKFT

Certified Public Accountants

E -k

18/F., Two International Finance Centre

8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong
EEPREMESKERERP OB T/E

20 July 2010
—E-ZFLA=tH

Digital China Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME
ST ATEMENT
ek

Year ended 31 March 2010 & =&

—EF-A=T—BLFH

2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Hi & BT BT T
REVENUE A 5 50,178,281 42,326,342
Cost of sales & P AR (46,878,503) (39,367,767)
Gross profit E7 3,299,778 2,958,575
Other income and gains H A Yg A R a= 5 619,445 447,701
Selling and distribution costs $HE R KR (1,907,220) (1,701,244)
Administrative expenses THER (402,142) (372,297)
Other operating expenses, net Hih £ EBRFE (445,797) (449,053)
Total operating expenses EEEREE 6 (2,755,159) (2,522,594)
Finance costs B & B A 8 (125,021) (159,091)
Share of profits and losses of: M THRE 2 &F R EE:
Jointly-controlled entities Hh A i 2 (642) (40)
Associates Hﬁﬁ =N 9,589 11,671
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B Bt B 38 R 7 1,047,990 736,222
Income tax expense FistieE A 1 (174,288) (126,936)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 873,702 609,286
Attributable to: EER
Equity holders of the parent SENGIVIER 12 824,299 641,145
Minority interests DERRER 49,403 (31,859)
873,702 609,286
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO B AFEBERR
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EESREF
PARENT 14
Basic A 83.12 HK cents # 1l 66.58 HK cents /Il
Diluted By 82.93 HK cents & 1l N/A 738 A
Details of the dividend payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in note 13 KEEF ZEMKE MEKR S 2 518 & 7tk B 7% 3R & B 5

to the financial statements.

13
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e P ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
NS COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= B4 2 EKE

Yearended 31 March 2010 B E —E—ZEFE=A=+—HILEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTNF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A F B F 873,702 609,286
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: Htt 2@
Exchange differences on translation of BINEBRE
foreign operations MEHERR 1,224 7,879
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BMBRBEBEELN
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX FAEEHMEZEKE 1,224 7,879
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME rEEXHEWBAE
FOR THE YEAR 874,926 617,165
Attributable to: BER :
Equity holders of the parent D) iR R 825,046 648,663
Minority interests DHRRE R 49,880 (31,498)
874,926 617,165
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OlJ¢
FINANCIAL POSITION

R e RSO R

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTAF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
K et B FT B F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 15 374,260 397,767
Investment properties BEME 16 285,472 238,516
Prepaid land premiums BALHES 17 53,072 14,671
Intangible assets BmEAE 19 2,822 4,233
Interests in jointly-controlled entities MRS b2 2R 22 3,785 6,201
Interests in associates REE RAl 2= 23 265,173 23,409
Available-for-sale investments AEHEZRE 24 101,496 101,496
Other receivables H fth JiE U 5k 1B 25 332,849 =
Deferred tax assets EEFRIEEE 26 49,118 24,176
Total non-current assets BIETEEE 1,468,047 810,469
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories rE 27 3,368,487 2,136,461
Trade and bills receivables B B 5 ik 71 K FE IR 29 6,411,961 5,471,493
Prepayments, deposits and BRRIE e kE M
other receivables JE W 3R I8 1,633,760 1,366,277
Derivative financial instruments MEeMIA 32 15,508 27,097
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY 30 2,772,026 1,734,428
Total current assets BRBEE 14,201,742 10,735,756
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and bills payables EBRNESERRENRE 31 7,209,673 4,697,703
Other payables and accruals HihERNRERERER 1,850,178 1,681,331
Derivative financial instruments MESMIA 32 6,456 =
Tax payable JE & 18 207,492 133,010
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ft S RITE R 33 455,711 875,449
Bond payable B EH 34 226,296 =
Total current liabilities wRBEE 9,955,806 7,387,493
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,245,936 3,348,263
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERABEE 5,713,983 4,158,732
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
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66

A BRI &
31 March 2010 ZE—ZF=H=+—H
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTAF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
K et B FT B F T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E(nBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WESRITE R 33 1,040,600 701,516
Bond payable EREH 34 - 226,296
Total non-current liabilities BIETEEE 1,040,600 927,812
Net assets EEFE 4,673,383 3,230,920
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to equity holders of & 2 8] B R FE 1k #E 3%
the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 35 102,077 96,239
Reserves ke 37(a) 3,810,246 2,903,667
Proposed final dividend ¥R K HA A% B 13 288,505 140,030
4,200,828 3,139,936
Minority interests LY REER 472,555 90,984
Total equity R 4,673,383 3,230,920
N
GUO Wei 3 & LIN Yang # 15
Chairman 7 & Director £ %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT Ol
CHANGES IN EQUITY
= A BESC B

RERnE

Year ended 31 March 20108 Z - —ZSF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BARRREN
Employee
Share share-based Exchange Proposed
Issued premium  Capital compensation  Reserve fluctuation Retained final Minority Total
capital  account  reserve reserve funds reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
MR
BT R4 XfifEEZ EX Rk 3 4
BEA  OREER EXRE HeRE REEES RBFRE REERN KBRS Bt RREZ RRAR
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000
Wi  EEFT EETr EETT BEFT BEFr BETT E¥FrT E¥Tr B¥Tr E¥Tr EEFr
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZTNEMA—H 96,362 620,567 625,334 = 81,330 115,520 946,596 140,210 2,625,919 17,777 2,643,696
Total comprehensive income/  AFE2E Mz /(K1)
(loss) for the year ek = = = = = 7,518 641,145 - 648,663 (31,498) 617,165
Repurchase and cancellation  F& (B &2 &F 85 Bk (3
of shares 35 (123) (2,764) - - - - - - (2,887) - (2,887)
Equity-settled share option DAz BB AR B e B
arrangements 36 - - - 8,451 - - - - 8,451 - 8,451
Capital contribution from SR E R A DB R
minority shareholders of Zﬁzﬁtﬁé
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 116,349 116,349
Acquisition of minority interests 4 B 4 &1 it R 4 25 = = = = = = = = - (11,644) (11,644
Gain on deemed disposal of R AME K EAQA
interest in a subsidiary a2 W - - 110,461 - - - (110,461) - - - -
Final 2008 dividend “REN\ERHAKE = = = = = = - (140,210) (140,210) - (140,210
Proposed final 2009 dividend ~ BR—ZZAFE KK E 13 = = = = = - (140,030) 140,030 = = =
Transfer to reserve funds BRZEEES - - - - 16,674 - (16,674) = = = =
At 31 March 2009 RZBZAF=A
=+-A 96,239 617,803* 735,795* 8,451*  98,004*  123,038* 1,320,576* 140,030 3,139,936 90,984 3,230,920
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNENA-A 96,239 617,803 735,795 8,451 98,004 123,038 1,320,576 140,030 3,139,936 90,984 3,230,920
Total comprehensive income  AF [E 2 E M 8 58
for the year - - - - - 747 824,299 - 825,046 49,880 874,926
Issue of shares Bl 35 5765 361,235 - - - - - - 367,000 - 367,000
Exercise of share options e 35 73 5,304 - (1,077) - - - - 4,300 - 4,300
Equity-settled share option DARR % 1 2 B AR B 2
arrangements 36 - - - 4,576 - - - - 4,576 - 4,576
Capital contribution from SEMBRAEREZ
minority shareholders of BARHE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 124,548 124,548
Acquisition of minority interests 4 B 4 8 iR R 4% &= - - - - - - - - - (9,367) (9,367)
Gain on deemed disposal of R ALE—FEHEAA
interest in a subsidiary a2 W - - 142,449 - - - (142,449 - - - -
Partial disposal of interestina % —RFI B2 7
subsidiary B9 - - - - - - - - - 216,510 216,510
Final 2009 dividend “ZTNERARE - - - - - - - (140,030) (140,030) - (140,030)
Proposed final 2010 dividend ~ Bk—Z—ZFRHHKE 13 - - - - - (288,505) 288,505 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BRZREES - - - - 48,884 - (48,884) - - - -
At 31 March 2010 \_ZE—-ZF=R
=+—A 102,077  984,342* 878,244* 11,950* 146,888*  123,785* 1,665,037* 288,505 4,200,828 472,555 4,673,383
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately * NERERDREERCANBRREFP I BARBHSE

HK$3,810,246,000 (2009: HK$2,903,667,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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GCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
/\/\ Eﬁ\///\bi%%

—EF-A=1+-BLFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF “EThF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B & BYFT BB For
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBHASRE
Profit before tax R 5 A& A 1,047,990 736,222
Adjustments for: A
Finance costs Eﬁéﬂli 8 125,021 159,091
Share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled JE A5 35 R 422 ) £ 3
entities and associates Bt ’A Al 2 A & 1E (8,947) (11,631)
Interest income FEMA (37,257) (14,283)
Dividend income from AHEEZREZ
available-for-sale investments B B WA (2,373) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and LEME BERXBZER
equipment 7 532 4,392
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties REMEZAFEBEMWRE) EIE 7,16 (46,956) 679
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in a BEBE—MHBLQRERS 2 W
subsidiary 5 (142,449) (110,461)
Gain on partial disposal of interest in a subsidiary & — M B 2 7 2D 25 2 W% 5 (118,217) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZEHEA 724&&1 5 (57,746) =
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate HE e QR RS 2 W E 5 - (42,997)
Depreciation e 7,15 82,867 83,522
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums T8 4 3t 7 B 5 7,17 409 408
Impairment of goodwill B R E 7,18 1,572 6,406
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEH 7,19 1,411 1,411
Impairment of intangible assets BEAERE 7,19 - 35,181
Impairment of interest in a jointly-controlled R SRR Hl 1 3 2 B R E
entity 7 - 1,034
Impairment of interest in an associate REEE QB 2w R E 7 7,140 =
Equity-settled share option expenses DA BR 17 32 1+ 2 e R e B <2 7 4,576 8,451
857,573 857,425
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM /R (1,232,951) 422,903
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 1 B 5) ik 5R B B K 3R B 8 AN (944,343) (1,698,673)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BRFRE Rek
other receivables H{th & W R I8 48 0 (285,061) (132,648)
Increase in trade and bills payables FETE 5 IR 3% K FE AT AR IE N 2,512,570 1,363,184
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HMENREBEREREA
and accruals g,/ CRd) 173,779 (14,089)
Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial assets EEBMEERD /(M) 11,589 (27,097)
Increase in derivative financial liabilities TEcmBaE i“ on 6,456 =
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net fEREE s LB FHE 1,224 7,388
Cash generated from operations KEmSzRE 1,100,836 778,393
Interest received SRR 32,346 14,283
Hong Kong profits tax paid Ef’%ﬁﬁ%% MEFH (10,444) (4,421)
The People’s Republic of China B EARLME
corporate income tax paid TEMRER (114,257) (61,166)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEXEBMEReREFE 1,008,481 727,089
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CONSOLIDATED STATEME
CASH FLOWS
GeRenEx

NT OF

Year ended 31 March 2010 8 ZE—E—ZEFE=A=+—HILEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF “EThF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
H i BYFT BB For
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBHREHREREFHE 1,008,481 727,089
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZTHNEESRE
Purchases of items of property, BAYE BERZE
plant and equipment (5 (68,189) (76,917)
Addition to prepaid land premiums TEfT 2 #h A £ 0 17 (39,602) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant  HEME - BER&E 2
and equipment FriS %18 3,615 716
Disposal of subsidiaries HEZBHBE AT 38 83,921 =
Proceeds from partial disposal of interest in HE—HHBARBIERZ
a subsidiary FT 1S 58 6,789 =
Proceeds from disposal of interest in an associate ~ H& — & A6 2 &% E 2 B KA - 69,885
Dividends received from a jointly-controlled entity 4% Bl — & 25 [ 42 41 b % 2 Bk B 1,774 2,949
Dividends received from associates W ER % [ Bk A ) 2 R B 300 -
Dividends received from available-for-sale WA EZREZ
investments iz & 2,373 -
Investments in jointly-controlled entities RERZESBEZEE - (2,331)
Investments in associates REEERE 2R E (239,615) (2,831)
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment BATMHEE 2RE - (69,885)
Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged time deposits ~ R IERZIHABRB=@A 2
with original maturity of more than three EAERTE BETORDS
months when acquired (38 hn) 544,263 (544,263)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities BREEHME/(FRES K2 T8 295,629 (622,677)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHNRESRE
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares BIMLT BRI RIE 35 367,000 =
Exercise of share options 17 {8 B PR 1 35 4,300 =
Repurchase of ordinary shares i [0 3 8 R 35 - (2,887)
New bank loans IBRITER 6,609,202 7,977,346
Repayment of bank loans BEERTER (6,689,856) (7,776,935)
Interest paid BERFE (125,021) (159,091)
Dividends paid B & (140,030) (140,210)
Acquisition of minority interests Wk D B R = (14,841) (18,065)
Capital contribution from minority shareholders of % B Mt B AR D EI R 2
subsidiaries ERHE 266,997 191,715
Net cash flows from financing activities BMEEHAERESTEFHE 277,751 71,873
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEYEMFR
EQUIVALENTS 1,581,861 176,285
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHzReRAEEEY 1,190,165 998,454
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EREE LB FH - 15,426
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRZECRESEEY
OF YEAR 2,772,026 1,190,165
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P CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PIN—/1 CASH FLOWS

FARERER

Yearended 31 March 2010 B ZE —E—ZEF=A=+—HILEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF “EThF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
H i BYFT BB For
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND CASH RERREEEBYZ
EQUIVALENTS ERDH
Cash and bank balances Be RBITHER 30 1,667,976 1,190,165
Non-pledged time deposits EEATEHERK 30 1,104,050 544,263
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RERE MR AERTE 2
consolidated statement of financial position RERBREEEY 2,772,026 1,734,428
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity AU ERZIHEBB=EA 2
of more than three months when acquired 3R E B TE K - (544,263)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REEEREMRERAEZ
consolidated statement of the cash flows RekREEEY 2,772,026 1,190,165
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
B 5 R R

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

..._,,
£

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTAF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
b et B FT BB FT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 15 359 433
Investments in subsidiaries RHEBRR Z&ZE 20 760,231 756,813
Total non-current assets BIETBEE 760,590 757,246
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  TEf X TE ~ 12 & & H ftb & 3 IB 3,130 11,022
Due from subsidiaries JFE LS B 8 1% B R IR 21 3,084,242 2,675,220
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEED 30 1,347 497,854
Total current assets BREEE 3,088,719 3,184,096
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBEE
Other payables and accruals Hih BN RIERERE R 10,483 6,742
Due to subsidiaries & f<F Bt 8 2 R] ;IR 21 1,645,357 2,235,504
Total current liabilities BRFAaRE 1,655,840 2,242,246
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 1,432,879 941,850
Net assets EERFE 2,193,469 1,699,096
EQUITY e
Issued capital BETRAE 35 102,077 96,239
Reserves ] 37(b) 1,802,887 1,462,827
Proposed final dividend BERERE 13 288,505 140,030
Total equity EREE 2,193,469 1,699,096
N
Fd
N A
GUO Wei 28 & LIN Yang # #
Chairman 7 & Director %
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72
NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
S ¥R M AT

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office and principal place of
business of the Company is located at Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon House,
Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities:

o sale and distribution of general information technology (“IT")
products
o sale and distribution of systems products and provision of related

value-added services

o provision of one-stop supply chain consultancy and execution services
to IT and other high-value density products manufacturers and major
accounts as well as providing modular or tailor-made services

o provision of systems integration, application software development,
consultancy and training, etc.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and derivative financial instruments, which have been measured at
fair value as further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2010. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intercompany transactions and intercompany balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by
the Group in the results and net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An
acquisition of minority interests is accounted for using the parent entity
concept method whereby the difference between the consideration and the
book value of the share of net assets acquired is recognised as goodwiill.
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2.2

/3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 18 Amendments*

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 9 and
HKAS 39
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 13

HK(IFRIC) - Int 15

HK(IFRIC) - Int 16

Improvements to
HKFRSs
(October 2008)**

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements — Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
— Vesting Condlitions and Cancellations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure — Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue
— Determining whether an entity is acting as
a principal or as an agent

Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) — Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign

Operation

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR M

31 March2010 — 2 —ZFF = =+—H

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

*

*k

Included in /mprovements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009).

The Group adopted all the improvements to HKFRSs issued in October 2008
except for the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations — Plan to sell the controlling interest in a subsidiary,
which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKAS 1
(Revised), HKFRS 7 Amendments and HKFRS 8, the adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements and there have been no significant changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial statements.

(a)

(b)

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation and
disclosures of financial statements. The revised standard separates
owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes
in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with all
non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition,
this standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income,
with all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss,
together with all other items of recognised income and expense
recognised directly in equity, either in one single statement, or in
two linked statements. The Group has elected to present two
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure —
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures about fair
value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements
related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by sources
of inputs using a three-level fair value hierarchy, by class, for all
financial instruments recognised at fair value. In addition, a
reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance is now
required for level 3 fair value measurements, as well as significant
transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The
amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk
disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and assets used
for liquidity management. The fair value measurement disclosures
are presented in note 45 to the financial statements while the
revised liquidity risk disclosures are presented in note 46 to the
financial statements.
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2.3
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(c)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies
how an entity should report information about its operating
segments, based on information about the components of the
entity that is available to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of allocating resources to the segments and assessing
their performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of
information about the products and services provided by the
segments, the geographical areas in which the Group operates,
and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group
concluded that the operating segments determined in accordance
with HKFRS 8 are the same as the business segments previously
identified under HKAS 14. These revised disclosures, including the
related revised comparative information, are shown in note 4 to the
financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards’

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
- Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters?

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
- Limited Exemptions from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters*

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
— Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions?

Business Combinations'

Financial Instruments®

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Classification of Rights Issues®

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement — Eligible
Hedged Items’
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments
Amendments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners'

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments*

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
— Plan to sell the controlling interest in a
subsidiary’

Amendments to
HKFRS 5 included in
Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

HK Interpretation 4
(Revised in December
2009)

Leases — Determination of the Length of Lease
Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases?

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements to HKFRSs
2009 which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The amendments
to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC) — Int 9 and HK(IFRIC) - Int 16 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 while the
amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36
and HKAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010 although there are separate transitional provisions for each
standard or interpretation.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

o v s woN -

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the Group
considers that these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a
significant impact or the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement
to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The Company's
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the other parties
have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital
contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the joint venture
and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations and any
distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in
proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with
the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly,
over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the joint
venture;

() an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control,
but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the
joint venture's registered capital and is in a position to exercise
significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39, if
the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20% of the joint
venture's registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is in
a position to exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR M

31 March2010 — 2 —ZFF = =+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control,
resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral control over
the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-
controlled entities is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in the jointly-controlled
entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence.

The Group's interests in associates are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group's share of
the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates is included as part of the Group's interests in associates and is
not individually tested for impairment. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates represents
the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired,
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of
acquisition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as an asset, initially measured at cost and subsequently
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In case of associates,
goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a
separately identified asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR M

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the income statement in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which
it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Group; (i) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(0 the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred
toin (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power in
such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred
toin (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the

employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related party of
the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the lease terms or 2% to 5%, whichever
is shorter

Over the lease terms or 20% to 33%,
whichever is shorter

10% to 20%

10% to 20%

Leasehold land and
buildings
Leasehold improvements

Office equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and other fixed assets under
construction or installation, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
or investment properties when completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold interest under an operating lease for property which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in the income statement in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is
the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of five years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised using the unit-of-sale method, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production, with an
amortisation period limited to two years.

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets
remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated at cost
and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the
cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investment not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables and derivative financial
instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets
held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKAS 39. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continuea)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them in the near term
is still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management'’s intent to sell them in the
foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets in rare circumstances. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables
or available-for-sale financial assets depends on the nature of the assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other operating expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets
in unlisted equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period
of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in
other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement and removed from the available-for-sale investment valuation
reserve. Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income statement
as “Other income” in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Avallable-for-sale financial investments (continuead)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and
used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether the
ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management's intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets
in rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and
the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. The reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability and
intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale category, any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost
and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of
the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a”pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group
also recognised an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financing difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the assets in a group
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced either directly or through the
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss
increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on
an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its
fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end
of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation)
and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the income statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continuea)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in
which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initial at fair value and in the case of
loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, derivative financial instruments, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and a bond payable.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that
require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because that specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets is
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations
(bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and
option pricing models.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency
contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when
the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are
taken directly to the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amounts and appropriate
amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract
costs incurred comprise equipment and material costs, subcontracting
costs, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the proportion of work
completed to date to the estimated total work of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by
management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an
amount due from contract customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an
amount due to contract customers.

2009/10 F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s mAR M

2.4

31 March2010 —ZE—ZEF =/ =+—H
FTESTHEMEE)
FTEEMIA
BAERAREESE

e

AEBEFEATESHTANEHEE SO LA XEH -
DR EERR M REER - ZETESRTA

ENERNERBEREATEAETERER  H&A
MAFEEENGE - WITEMZAFEERER

AIAEENR MR FEERBRIAGEIIR -

TERATEEZYMES ZE MRS HBEERT
AMER

T_4=l

ENEARERAZRFEMRE R ZBEED R -
ﬁ$EEMM%¥W%EFE°ﬂ ﬁ@ﬁ&ﬁgﬁ
BRN TR R HEREELE ZEFABEKAS

BHEE

é%%A@%EﬂWZé%FE&ﬁ ZEHETER
BEFRES AONABRERBROHRAE 28
BUA E&%I%$& BELP 2 FEEMEEER -

REBEEEEANZBARTIASLITERBAR
METAALARENGOFERSHRZ % LD
HERANZEFBETEZLHFE -

EEE-BERMACABER  BEZFEREIKE
B

R ERSHARZA KK AINE 5 R R R C R
BRIEERE BLHEDISERAOERK -

EEFRBEBLFERSHRZAOKA NS ERE
%ME%W%Eﬁ%% BEBOINAERGENER
S

MEHEZEREBR QA



2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T EmR M

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

(b) contract revenue, on the percentage of completion basis, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Contract accounting” above;

(@} rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment
has been established.

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for
equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional upon a market or
non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
All cancellations of equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are partially refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment
prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continuea)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the Mainland
of the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland China”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ salaries and are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expended in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of
financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All
differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-controlled
entities and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and their income
statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out on operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease),
the Group account for the portions separately. If the portions could not be
sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant
that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for trade receivables of the Group is
based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of trade
receivables and on the judgement of management. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional impairment may be required.

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the Group and
makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified
that are no longer suitable for sale. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. A considerate amount of judgement
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these inventories. If the
market conditions were to change, resulting in a change of provision for
obsolete items, the difference will be recorded in the period it is identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, investment properties
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on an open market,
existing use basis by independent professional valuers. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement,
information from current prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period are used.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. More details are
given in note 18 to the financial statements.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group determines whether an intangible asset is impaired where an
indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the value in
use of the intangible asset. Estimating the value in use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the intangible
assets and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the
deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The Group’s management determines the deferred tax assets based on the
enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and laws and its best knowledge
of profit projections of the Group for the coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. Management reviews the
assumptions and profit projections at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various regions. As a result of the
fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and judgements
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision of corporate income taxes.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters are different from the
amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact the corporate
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the differences realise.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Where the fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they
are determined using valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The
judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit
risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect
the reported fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on
an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its
fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
recognised in the income statement and are not reversed.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group'’s
reportable operating segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other reportable segments. Particulars of the
Group's four reportable operating segments are summarised as follows:

(a) the "Distribution” segment engages in the sale and distribution of
general IT products which consist of notebook computers, desktop
computers, PC servers, data projectors, peripherals, accessories and
consumer IT products;

(b) the “Systems” segment engages in the sale and distribution of
systems products which consist of Unix servers, networking
products, storage products and packaged software, as well as the
provision of related value-added services;

(@} the “Supply Chain Services” segment engages in the provision of
one-stop supply chain consultancy and execution services to IT and
other high-value density products manufactures and major
accounts, including various processes of management over
transportation logistics, transaction processing, financing and
information data, as well as providing modular or tailor-made
services; and

(d) the “Services” segment engages in the provision of systems
integration, application software development, consultancy and
training, etc.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately for
the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on the
profit for the year of each reportable operating segment, which is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit for the year.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred tax assets,
derivative financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed
on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial instruments, tax payable,
interest-bearing bank borrowings, a bond payable and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset, liability and
expenditure information for the Group's operating segments for the years

ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.

4. RETMER(H)
TREJNAEEBRE"Z-—ZER-_ZTTNF=A=
T RLEFELEDH 2R - EHNRETEE &
BEREREH -

Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
28 S HEERE &3 &RE
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“2-%§F C"TTNF =%-%fF _—ZTTHhEF <-%-%F _"TTNF =-B-%BF _—ZTHE =-B-BF _TITIF
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
ERFT BETFT EETFT BEFT EEFT BEFT E¥Fr BETFT EETFT BEFT
Segmentrevenue: A HBA:
Sales to external HETHI
customers BP 22,721,957 18,797,374 13,982,890 13,355,613 8,775,449 5,289,877 4,697,985 4,883,478 50,178,281 42,326,342
Segment gross profit 2 HEF| 998,858 820,947 1,298,234 1,267,753 306,347 214,940 696,339 654,935 3,299,778 2,958,575
Segment results AEEE 234,559 213,139 442,162 429,113 91,345 75,964 139,836 87,669 907,902 805,885
Interest income, FSKA
unallocated APEBA
revenue and gains € 504,382 298,496
Unallocated expenses & 7 48 F 3 (248,220) (220,699)
Finance costs BEKK (125,021) (159,091)
Share of profitsand ~ FE{5 FHI AR 2 &
losses of: FIREE:
Jointly-controlled HREH
entities % - = - = - = (642) (40) (642) (40)
Associates ek NG| - - - - - - 9,589 11,671 9,589 11,671
Profit before tax BRBLAR R 1,047,990 736,222
Income tax expense PTG B &M (174,288) (126,936)
Profit for the year AEEHEF 873,702 609,286

Digital China Holdings Limited
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
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4. REIWERGE)

Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
28 S {4t e 8 PR 7 R RE
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Z2-%8%F C—TTNF Z%-%F _—TINF CZB-BF C—TTNF CZ%-%BF _—TTNE CZB-BF "TINF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
EBETFT BEFIT EEFT EEFT E¥FT BETT EETFT BEFT EETFT BEFT
Assets and liabilities &E R &1&
Segment assets PHEE 3,575,818 2,045,369 3,871,830 3,833,603 1,218,455 792,837 2,197,340 1,811,611 10,863,443 8,483,420
Interests in PR E &
jointly-controlled T2z
entities 3 - = - = - = 3,785 6,201 3,785 6,201
Interests in associates A Bt A A 2 R - - - - - = 265,173 23,409 265,173 23,409
Unallocated assets ADEEE 4,537,388 3,033,195
Total assets BEE 15,669,789 11,546,225
Segment liabilities AHEE 3,364,952 1,743,942 2,668,744 2,556,051 1,074,057 583,306 2,248,451 1,211,010 9,356,204 6,094,309
Unallocated liabilities & 9 2 & & 1,640,202 2,220,996
Total liabilities “af 10,996,406 8,315,305
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4,  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, RESBER(H)
Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
28 ES it JE 88 PR 7 R &E
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

—E-%2F -—TTNF -B-%F -TTNF CZB-BF _"TTNF ZB-BF _—TTNF -E-BF -—TITNF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000 — HK$'000  HKS000 — HK$'000 — HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
ABETr BETrT EETr EETT  BETm  EETn  B%Tr  BETT  BETr BRI

Other segment HitrpHER:
information:
Depreciation of property, ¥ - BER
plant and equipment RE2HE 9,317 9,949 11,989 9,578 4,958 5,303 25,145 26,267 51,409 51,097
Unallocated amounts AABBE 31,458 32,425
82,867 83,522
Amortisation of intangible EVEESRY
assets - - - - - - 1,411 1,411 1,411 1,411
Amortisation of prepaid BRLBES
land premiums B
- Unallocated -RHH 409 408
Capital expenditure BARX 3,103 6,989 18,242 19,140 8,447 4,807 20,442 24,152 50,234 55,088
Unallocated amounts 57,557 21,829
107,791 76,917
Impairment/(reversal of [ E 5 ik
impairment) of trade BB/ (A
receivables &) 64,861 49,636 51,439 110,244 637 11,153 19,310 (8013) 136,247 163,020
Provisions for/(reversal of REREEE/
provisions) and (BfERm)
write-off of obsolete RsA
inventories 91,206 40,381 7,756 42,619 20,725 3,260 3,811 (4,983) 123,498 81,277
Impairment of goodwill AERE - = - = - - 1,572 6,406 1,572 6,406
Impairment of intangible EWEERE
assets - - - - - - - 35,181 - 35,181
Impairment of interestina R R Z 6
jointly-controlled EPR £
entity A - - - - - - - 1,034 - 1,034
Impairment of interest in REFE AR 2
an associate B3R E - - - - - - 7,140 - 7,140 -
Geographical information it &R
Since over 90% of the Group's revenue from external customers is HARREBEREEHINEF Z WA iBI0% R F B AR
generated in Mainland China and over 90% of the assets of the Group are ELARKEEBIO%EEMNPREAE  HILES
located in Mainland China, no geographic information is presented. S A o
Information about a major customer TEEFER
During the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009, none of the Group's BE_Z-ZER_ZTNEF=A=-1t-RALEEAN "
8 . . . 3 L sl 2
revenue was derived from transactions with a single external customer ARERECARERENHIITLPRES ZBALER
amounting to 10% or more of the Group's revenue. EB 2B A10%k A L -
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Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the invoiced value
of goods sold and services rendered to customers, net of business tax and
government surcharges, and after allowances for goods returned and trade

discounts.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

WA~ Bt AR &
WATAAEBEZEXE BATPHEEmILRHK
RBEZEZEMHBREERIBFEE A REEH

EHHH) -

WA~ B A KW s 2 oA

Group
E
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
M iE BETFT BT T
Revenue N 50,178,281 42,326,342
Other income Hipg A
Government grants' B 4R B 57,430 60,854
Bank interest income AT BUA 32,346 14,283
Imputed interest income on H i B R IE 2
other receivables HEF B WA 4,911 =
Gross rental income BHES WA 36,732 31,861
Others H A 18,873 35,452
150,292 142,450
Gains ) =
Fair value gain on investment properties BEMEZNFEEKE 46,956 -
Gain on derivative financial instruments: TEem T AW :
Realised gain = 93,454 28,435
Unrealised gain R E IR W= 9,052 27,097
Gain on deemed disposal of interest BALE—HHBAREZRZ
in a subsidiary* U5t 142,449 110,461
Gain on partial disposal of interest HE—RBMNBARMBY R
in a subsidiary** L 25 118,217 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries*#* ek A NG & 38 57,746 =
Gain on disposal of interest in HE—FHEE A B#ER 2
an associate*### W 55 e - 42,997
Foreign exchange differences, net SNEFERR - 89,474
Others H A 1,279 6,787
469,153 305,251
619,445 447,701
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. WA Eftur ARk (F)

t Various government grants have been received for the sale of self-developed t AEEERHEPEARKMBE(HEDHBHPFIRATZ
software products approved by the tax authority in the People’s Republic of China BITHAZEG RIBEAERAZHEGRRATEAEST
(the “PRC"), the development of software products in Mainland China, and the BN ETREMBERE TR - EWEUBERH
investments in specific provinces in Mainland China. The government grants A BE R B A 1D ATIR A 2 BT 46 B B W WOER 3% 5 4 AE B
received for the investments in specific provinces in Mainland China were R ERREEETRERGERRPERERZERET
recognised upon the receipt of the grants, whereas those received for the sale of W2 BR#HAE - A2 R REEERAIZ BT EHRME
self-developed software products approved by the tax authority in the PRC and RERASEAREEAER ZEHUBERERZK
the development of software in Mainland China were recognised upon the sale of ek AEIE -
the approved self-developed software products and the completion of the
development of the related software, respectively. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

# The gain on deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary recognised during the year # BRARALE—RWBRAER 2N  DEREE=
ended 31 March 2009 and 2010 arose from the dilution of the Group’s effective TENER_TZTE=-A=Z+-BUEFERALEBRER
equity interest in Digital China Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.* AERFAEBHBRARSMNEBEERMREBRERAT
("DCITS"), a subsidiary of the Group, from 100% to 90.96% in 2009 and further (TEMNERBNE  BAEBRGNEEMEAERER-Z
to 80.49% in 2010 upon the injection in capital of DCITS by the minority THFHI00% B HEE06NER-_T—ZFEH TS
shareholders. 80.49% if & & °

L The gain on partial disposal of interest in a subsidiary recognised during the year L BRALE—RBARBHERZWZ  NTEREE-Z
ended 31 March 2010 arose from the disposal of the Group’s 19.51% equity interest —ZTEZRA=+ - BHIFEERNAEBRLEBMNERZ
in DCITS. The Group held 60.98% equity interest in DCITS after the disposal. 19.51% iR 1 - EiZ B 1% - AN & B 55 5 18 M {5 £860.98%

R #E -

i The gain on disposal of subsidiaries recognised during the year ended 31 March L BRALESHNBARZWZ TEARBE-_E—TF=
2010 arose from the disposal of the Group's 100% equity interest in DGT B=+—BLEERERAAEEHEMMNEBRERARGEERR
Information Systems Limited (“DGT") and its subsidiaries. Further details of the A (3% 817538 A e ih)) & B8 2 8 2100% ik & - &
disposal of subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the financial statements. BEEZHNBRARCE— S FBEHN LT BHRRW T

38 °

Hh The gain on disposal of interest in an associate recognised during the year ended it BRALE-—HBL AT ZEZ 2K  DEAREBE_ZZ
31 March 2009 arose from the disposal of the Group’s entire equity interest in NWE=ZA=+—HLLFERA % E L & Digital China
Digital China Management Systems (BVI) Limited (“DCMS"). Management Systems (BVI) Limited ("DCMS") Z % §8 Bz #& -

i The English name of this company is the direct transliteration of its Chinese + AR AN A EEE S ME L IR L -
registered name.

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 6. EEERAH

An analysis of total operating expenses by nature is as follows: BEUEEE D EEBREEINET:

Group

AEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETFoT

Selling expenses HEEH 262,367 253,625

Promotion and advertising expenses HEREEEHR 146,697 114,567

Staff costs included in operating expenses FIREEBRZETHA

(including directors’ remuneration (note 9)) (BREEZME (W 79) 1,317,415 1,101,030

Other expenses HtE A 1,028,680 1,053,372

2,755,159 2,522,594

Digital China Holdings Limited
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
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7. BRBIATEF

AEBZBHANENELNSR,GIA) :

2010 2009
—E-EF ZEThEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M iF BT BB TFr
Cost of inventories sold EHFEKA 45,680,114 38,521,886
Depreciation e 15 82,867 83,522
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums B L & # 17 409 408
Impairment of goodwill* SESNEREN 18 1,572 6,406
Research and development costs 9 & R A 171,404 148,341
Amortisation of intangible assets** mEEEE 19 1,411 1,41
Impairment of intangible assets* BREEREBE* 19 - 35,181
Impairment of interest in a jointly-controlled entity* MRS b2 ERRE - 1,034
Impairment of interest in an associate* PR & AR 2 B s RUE 7,140 -
Minimum lease payments under operating leases in T REF RELE
respect of land and buildings HEHS 103,124 89,612
Auditors’ remuneration ZER B & 4,100 4,600
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ EERAFAZ(REESEMS
remuneration (note 9)): (K1 #£9))
Wages and salaries TERF & 1,387,345 1,173,864
Equity-settled share option expenses VARR 17 215 2 6 AR #E B =2 4,576 8,451
Pension scheme contributions*** RIKE 5T 84 x> 97,015 75,905
Other benefits H b 18 7 194,362 179,883
1,683,298 1,438,103
Provisions for and write-off of obsolete inventories* REFTEBERME 123,498 81,277
Write-off of other receivables* E b Us R TE g 1,500 3,229
Impairment of trade receivables* FE I E 5 IR ROR B 29 136,247 163,020
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and HEWME BERRKBIERE
equipment 532 4,392
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and ARBESHEEMENETE
maintenance) arising on rental-earning investment EEERREBEEEMRE)
properties 10,133 10,022
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties HEMEZNTFEAEMWE),
18 16 (46,956) 679
Rental income on investment properties less direct BEMEZHECWAREES
operating expenses of HK$10,133,000 B & R 47%1510,133,0007T
(2009: HK$10,022,000) —EENF:
75 %10,022,0007T) (26,599) (21,839)
Foreign exchange differences, net SNEE R ERR 717 (89,474)
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31 March2010 ZE—ZTF=F=+—H
7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 7.

The impairment of goodwill, the impairment of intangible assets, the impairment
of interest in a jointly-controlled entity, the impairment of interest in an associate,
the provisions for and write-off of obsolete inventories, the write-off of other
receivables and the impairment of trade receivables are included in “Other
operating expenses, net” in the consolidated income statement.

*x The amortisation of intangible assets is included in “Cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

Rk At 31 March 2010, the Group had no material forfeited contributions available to
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2009: Nil).

F%mﬁ' 7% F (48)

*%

BERE EVAERE NAREHEEZESRE -
REERRzESRE REFERFBRME H4E
WM R BB S IRFBED AR RERTZ[E
&= B AFEIA -

BVEAESHEAANGARARPZIHERAKIA -

RZZ—ZFF=A=+—-0 FAEELHFEATHNAAK
REE 2 BREFEHRRZBOMBR(ZTTNGF  8) -

8.  FINANCE COSTS 8. RBEMXK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXAZ DO

Group

AEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF
HK$'000 HK$000
BT BB TFoT
Interest on bank borrowings RITE KA S 53,892 109,356
Interest on bond payable J& 1~ 18 5 7] B 15,116 15,125
Interest on discounted bills ERHRERENE 56,013 34,610
125,021 159,091
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 9.

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

ExHe

REFEMARIMARRRZES MR (EHARR D)
R&EBRAEHIF1611E Tﬁ&éZﬂKiFé%@N%ﬁﬂT

Group
rE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TThEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T B TFor
Fees wne 600 600
Other emoluments: Hi Bl & :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZMREVEA 8,463 8,267
Performance related bonuses R I EN 2 T AT 3,395 3,102
Equity-settled share option expenses VA RR 19 2 71 2 B IR i A =2
(note) (Hi:) 1,051 1,840
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIHER 60 54
12,969 13,263
13,569 13,863
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BYFBTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the K FERN EXNTBUFATESZREH
year were as follows: T
2010 2009
—E-EF ZTThF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT B For
Mr. HU Zhaoguang HBELE 150 150
Professor WU Jinglian R BEHE 150 150
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis BXREE 150 150
Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter KWAN Ming Heung, Peter 5t 4 150 150
600 600

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2009: Nil).
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31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

9.  DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. ESMe (&)
(b)  Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEERHATEES
Salaries, Performance Equity-settled Pension
allowances and related  share option scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind bonuses expenses  contributions remuneration
He 2HR HREAHH UROAIFIZ B#fe
we BENRER 2L BRERX B REEA HemE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BETT BEFT BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Note)
(Kt 5t)
2010 —E-ZF
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. GUO Wei HrfAE - 5,682 2,263 515 30 8,490
Mr. LIN Yang Wi EE - 2,781 1,132 536 30 4,479
- 8,463 3,395 1,051 60 12,969
Non-executive directors: ~ FE#7TEE :
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN Rk S - - - - - -
Mr. TANG Xudong BBR & AE - - - - - -
Mr. SHENG Gang' B 5 4 - - - - - -
Mr. QIU Zhongwei BHELE - - - - - -
Mr. CHEN Derek? CHEN Derek % 42 - - - - - -
- 8,463 3,395 1,051 60 12,969
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . = .
B SR M i e A\

= 4

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

9. EEME(H)
(b) HITESRIUTEESH)

Salaries,  Performance  Equity-settled Pension
allowances and related share option scheme Total
Fees  benefits in kind bonuses expenses contributions  remuneration
F¢ 2Rk HERREHY URHXNZ RRE
e BENEH 2L BRERX BE LT M@
HK$'000 HK$000 HK3$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFor BB For EEFT BB FoT BB T BB TT
(Note)
(Hit)
2009 —EZhE
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE - 5,545 2,446 901 27 8,919
Mr. LIN Yang g5 = 2,722 656 939 27 4,344
- 8,267 3,102 1,840 54 13,263
Non-executive directors: ~ FEH7TEE :
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN Bk - - - - - -
Mr. TANG Xudong BB 3R A - - - - - -
Mr. QIU Zhongwe?? R R A3 - - - - - -
Mr. CHEN Derek CHEN Derek 5t & - - - - - -
Mr. LUO Hong* B - - - - - -
- 8,267 3,102 1,840 54 13,263

i Appointed on 10 November 2009
z Resigned on 10 November 2009

8 Appointed on 25 February 2009
& Resigned on 25 February 2009

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

Note: In prior year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the income statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2009: two)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2009: three) non-
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

LfuBEHMESR

AEEZINGRSFHEERERE(CEENAE M
ZEE REZHMEHBEHR LEXMFIA - HT=

A(CETAF ZR)FEELREH

BEzMeFBEEMmT:

B2 8 WA

Group

rE
2010 2009
—E-ZfF —EENF
HK$000 HK$'000
EBMFTT B F T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYERN 3,374 3,282
Performance related bonuses 81 5% IR B 8 2 B AT 5,732 6,033
Equity-settled share option expenses (note) LARR D S5 2 B AR A A =2 (B ) 161 470
Pension scheme contributions RIKE T8I 91 82
9,358 9,867

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

MeNFrIERzFkEELRBHMERS 2 AZM

T~

Number of employees

BEAH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % %%1,000,0007T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,0017T 2 7 #1,500,0007T =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 78 1,500,001 = 7 #2,000,0007T -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 & #2,000,0017T 2 7% #£2,500,0007T 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 75 #2,500,0017T & 78 #3,000,0007T -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 75 #3,000,0017T 2 7 #3,500,0007C =
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 75 #3,500,0017T & % #4,000,0007T -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 75 #4,000,0017T 2 7 14,500,000 7T =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 75 #4,500,0017T & 7 #5,000,0007T -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 75 #5,000,0017T 2 7 #5,500,000 7T 1
3
Note: I prior year, share options were granted to certain non-director, highest paid HiF: REFE ZTHEESESFHEERAASEIREH#

employees, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the income statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is

included in the above non-director, highest paid employees’ remuneration

disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5

=W

31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F = =+—H
INCOME TAX EXPENSE . FEHER
2010 2009
—B-EF —ZTTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
EBEFT B F T
Group: KEE :
Current — Hong Kong REF-B 6,773 9,591
Current — PRC REF-F 192,457 121,631
Deferred (note 26) i FE (fff £ 26) (24,942) (4,286)
Total tax charge for the year AFEERELZHA 174,288 126,936
(a) During the year, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the @) AEER - BENG ﬁ?ﬁ)}}ﬁ&%;‘%? CPA L] EJF
rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits ng%ﬁmﬁ 1#16.5% (ZFTNF :16.5%) 2 B
arising in Hong Kong. RitH e
(b) PRC corporate income tax represents tax charged on the estimated (b) o b 3R PTG B4R 1O AR B OK e E A 2 i o AR
assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In general, the PRC Rl ciiE - - RETHERBARZE
subsidiaries of the Group are subject to the PRC corporate income ARBEEIN  ARBZAEMEAR— KA
tax rate of 25% except for certain PRC subsidiaries which are BMTECXAER B ERR25% °
entitled to preferential tax rates.
(@} No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the © HRARZHERRBERANBE-—F—F

jointly-controlled entities and associates as the jointly-controlled
entities and associates had no estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009. PRC
corporate income tax has been provided at the applicable rates on
the estimated assessable profits of the jointly-controlled entities
and associates for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009. The
share of tax charge attributable to the jointly-controlled entities of
approximately HK$279,000 (2009: HK$262,000) and the share of
tax credit attributable to the associates of approximately
HK$2,643,000 (2009: share of tax charge of approximately
HK$3,382,000) are included in “Share of profits and losses of
jointly-controlled entities” and “Share of profits and losses of
associates” respectively, in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ImRME

31 March 2010 —

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

T-TF=A=+-A

11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to the profit before tax at
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax

rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

FreB 8 (&)

REBEARF R AR EMERRMERDERE ZEE
BMEFEGRBAEFNZ2HEXHE  AREERXAE
ZHAXHEER  ARERAREEDEERX) BER
RGN T -

Group
&
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEThEF
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
BT BAH B For Bt
Profit before tax R 5 A& A 1,047,990 736,222
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERMEFE 2HIE 261,998 25.0 184,055 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or FERMIH T HBERLT
local authority i (98,219) (9.4) (143,514) (19.5)
Effect on opening deferred tax of increase B &I I F VR IE
in rates Z %’ 2 - - 577 0.1
Profits and losses attributable to jointly-controlled P2l 4> 2 R HE A A
entities and associates Z AR R EE (2,236) (0.2) (2,909) 0.4
Tax effect of unused tax losses AERZRKDABIEEE
not recognised Z@ﬁk@ 2 20,776 2.0 26,753 36
Income not subject to tax BARB ZWA (77,619) (7.4) (34,807) 4.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAMBZFAX 90,636 8.6 103,148 14.0
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FMABEHEZHEEE (21,048) (2.0) (6,367) (0.9)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate RAEEERBRGFHE 2
I8 X 174,288 16.6 126,936 17.2
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12. BATREEGLEZR
The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the HAXRRMERENEBEE-_E—SF=-A=+—H
year ended 31 March 2010 includes a loss of approximately IFEENRARKREREGLGESRZN €A AREHA

HK$37,400,000 (2009: HK$44,475,000), which was arrived at after
deducting dividend income received from a subsidiary and other
intercompany income totalling approximately HK$295,927,000 (2009:
HK$207,141,000) from the Company’s profit of approximately
HK$258,527,000 (2009: HK$162,666,000), that has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 37(b)).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS N

Bt 75 R R B aE

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

DIVIDENDS 13. KE
2010 2009
—g-%% -TEBAA
HK$°000 HK$°000
BETFT BUF T
Proposed final dividend — 28.26 HK cents (2009: 14.55 HK cents) BRARER B - TR E @ AR28.26
per ordinary share BAL(ZTTNF 14553 1L) 288,505 140,030
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the AEFRRAAKRSBEANRRELANGRITZ
Company's shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. RBFRGL#E -
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 14, BLEEERRREGERER

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
approximately HK$824,299,000 (2009: HK$641,145,000), and the
weighted average of 991,754,252 (2009: 962,957,784) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares deemed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares of the Company into ordinary shares during the
year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the year ended 31
March 2010 was based on the profit for the year ended 31 March 2010
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of approximately
HK$824,299,000 and 994,025,926 ordinary shares, which represented the
weighted average of 991,754,252 ordinary shares in issue during the year
ended 31 March 2010, and the weighted average of 2,271,674 ordinary
shares deemed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all the outstanding share options during the year ended 31
March 2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the outstanding share options had
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share.
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T-THE=A=+—A

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

116

15. ¥ BELKRE

Group rE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Office Motor  Construction
buildings improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HELH
REF HEEE BIAERE RE EEIR ot
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFT BYEFT BEFT BEFT BYFT BEFT
31 March 2010 —E-EF=H=+-H
At 31 March 2009 and R-ZZNEZA=+—-HRK
1 April 2009; —ETAEMA-A:
Cost R AE 174,724 85,539 455,670 29,977 5,538 751,448
Accumulated depreciation e (14,895) (55,749) (264,490) (18,547) - (353,681)
Net carrying amount REFE 159,829 29,790 191,180 11,430 5,538 397,767
At 1 April 2009, net of RZZTNENA—H - 1k
accumulated depreciation ik 159,829 29,790 191,180 11,430 5,538 397,767
Additions NE - 6,439 55,463 3,754 2,533 68,189
Disposals & - (176) (3,514) (457) - (4,147)
Disposal of subsidiaries k= ING
(note 38) (Hfi#38) - (1,339) (3,343) - - (4,682)
Depreciation provided during KEEHE
the year (3,967) (15,666) (60,482) (2,752) - (82,867)
At 31 March 2010, net of RZZ-F4=RA=+—H
accumulated depreciation MR R E 155,862 19,048 179,304 11,975 8,071 374,260
At 31 March 2010: R-E-TF=A=1+—H:
Cost HAE 174,724 87,099 478,397 29,806 8,071 778,097
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (18,862) (68,051) (299,093) (17,831) - (403,837)
Net carrying amount REEE 155,862 19,048 179,304 11,975 8,071 374,260
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MEREME '\’
31 March2010 ZE—Z 4= =+—H
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. 9% BERRE(E)
Group rE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Office Motor Construction
buildings  improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
HETi
RiEF HEEE BAZRE HE FEIR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT EEFT BEFT BEFT EEFT EEFIT
31 March 2009 —EZhAF=A=1+—-H
At 1 April 2008: RZZZNFNA—A:
Cost AR E 171,085 78,573 425,504 27,541 5,981 708,684
Accumulated depreciation 2HIE (10,561) (40,579) (236,648) (19,772) = (307,560)
Net carrying amount REFE 160,524 37,994 188,856 7,769 5,981 401,124
At 1 April 2008, net of RZZENENA—H -
accumulated depreciation MG 2T E 160,524 37,994 188,856 7,769 5,981 401,124
Additions NE - 3,794 62,915 6,211 3,997 76,917
Disposals HeE = (262) (4,439) (407) = (5,108)
Transfers from construction in BRAEETR
progress - 4,524 66 - (4,590) -
Depreciation provided during AEEHE
the year (4,054) (17,047) (60,119) (2,302) - (83,522)
Exchange realignment R 3,359 787 3,901 159 150 8,356
At 31 March 2009, net of R-_EENE=ZA=1+—H"
accumulated depreciation MR R E 159,829 29,790 191,180 11,430 5,538 397,767
At 31 March 2009: RZZTNF=A=1+—H:
Cost K AE 174,724 85,539 455,670 29,977 5,538 751,448
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (14,895) (55,749) (264,490) (18,547) - (353,681)
Net carrying amount REFE 159,829 29,790 191,180 11,430 5,538 397,767

The Group's leasehold land and buildings included above are held under
medium term leases in Mainland China.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. 9% BERRE(H)
Company KA F]
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEHE WOAERE AE et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
EBETFT BEFT EBETFT BEFT
31 March 2010 —E-ZEF=fA=+-H
At 31 March 2009 and R-ZZEZNF=ZA=+—-HK
1 April 2009: “TTAFMA—A:
Cost XA ME 2,990 1,261 985 5,236
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (2,871) (947) (985) (4,803)
Net carrying amount IR EFE 119 314 - 433
At 1 April 2009, net of RZZTAFMNA—H -
accumulated depreciation MBRAEFHE 119 314 - 433
Additions NE - 81 - 81
Depreciation provided during the year REEHE (51) (104) - (155)
At 31 March 2010, net of RZE-—ZTF=ZA=+—H"
accumulated depreciation MBREFHE 68 291 - 359
At 31 March 2010: R-ZE-—TF=A=+—8:
Cost K AE 2,990 1,249 985 5,224
Accumulated depreciation S (2,922) (958) (985) (4,865)
Net carrying amount R % (B 68 291 - 359
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB E M T I\
31 March 2010 —F—ZTF=H=+—H
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. "% BERHZEE
Company KA F]
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEEE RLERE E #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
BB T T BHTT BETT BB T T
31 March 2009 —EEAF=HA=+—H
At 1 April 2008: RZZEZTZN\FMOHA—B:
Cost PN 2,847 1,665 985 5,497
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,829) (1,426) (985) (5,240)
Net carrying amount R [ F (B 18 239 - 257
At 1 April 2008, net of RZZETN\FMA—AH -
accumulated depreciation kR E 18 239 = 257
Additions NE 143 234 - 377
Disposals HE = 1) = @1)
Depreciation provided during the year REFHE (42) (118) - (160)
At 31 March 2009, net of R_ZEEZAFEF=ZA=1+—8"
accumulated depreciation MKk RETiE 119 314 = 433
At 31 March 2009: RZZETNF=A=+—8:
Cost PN 2,990 1,261 985 5,236
Accumulated depreciation R E (2,871) (947) (985) (4,803)
Net carrying amount R F (B 119 314 - 433
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWE

Group

&
2010 2009
—E2-2F —ETNF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BB For
Carrying amount at 1 April RMA—BZiEEE 238,516 234,212
Net profit/(loss) from a fair value adjustment (note 7) R R FEBEFHE 2 F %,/ (GE) (4 +7) 46,956 (679)
Exchange realignment ME 5 3B - 4,983
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HBZikEE 285,472 238,516

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China and are
held under medium term leases.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2010 by
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers, at approximately HK$285,472,000 on an open market, existing
use basis. The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in note
41(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2010, one of the Group's investment properties situated in
Mainland China with a value of approximately HK$22,969,000 (2009:
HK$19,009,000) was pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the
Group (note 33).

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s ImAR M

16. REWXGE)

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are as follows: REBREMEZE—THBHINMOT :
Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
#h 2 A& F 5 AEEELES
Digital Technology Plaza, Office building Medium term lease 100%
No. 9 Shangdijiu Street, MmAKE REIFE A
Haidian District,
Beijing,
The PRC
R R T8 R E
R BRI
HIE R ES
No. 6 Zhongguancun Nanda Street, Office building Medium term lease 49.5%
Haidian District, WA KE FREFFR 4
Beijing,
The PRC
R AL R T8 R E
A A B R BT65R
PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS 17. ENt#EE
Group
RE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April REA—BZIREE 15,079 15,165
Addition NE 39,602 -
Amortisation during the year AN E 6 (409) (408)
Exchange realignment M 5 38 B - 322
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZIkEE 54,272 15,079
Current portion included in prepayments, RBBLBEEENKE K&
deposits and other receivables Ko E fth FE g R IE (1,200) (408)
Non-current portion ERE B 53,072 14,671
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PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS (continued) 17. BEML#BAL(#H)
The Group's leasehold land are held under medium term leases and are AEBMZBAE T BN RPBE AR - AT BBLH R
situated in Mainland China. B
At 31 March 2010, certificates of ownership with respect to one of the RZZ—ZF=ZA=1+—H8 ' BERFEE SRR AN
Group's leasehold land situated in Mainland China with an aggregate net SE-—FAMNRPEARNE - KRAFERELNAASE
carrying amount of HK$39,602,000 (2009: Nil) had not been issued by the 39,602,000 (ZZEENF : E)2HELHBELES
relevant government authorities. The directors represent that the Group is BE -BERL AKEFEHFEBEE -
in the process of obtaining the relevant certificates.
GOODWILL 18. B8
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from the acquisition WEIERREREEAMEAM REELRESE
of minority interests, was as follows: Ul
Group
E
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B For
At 1 April: REA—HB:
Cost B A E 52,578 46,158
Accumulated impairment ZERE (52,578) (46,158)
Net carrying amount REEE - -
Cost at 1 April, net of accumulated RMUA—BZKAE Mk EET - -
impairment VEREY
Acquisition of minority interests WiE DR R = 6,619 6,420
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEN B QR (M £38) (5,047) =
Impairment during the year NEFZRE (1,572) (6,406)
Exchange realignment ME 5 38 B - (14)
Net carrying amount at 31 March R=ZB=+—BZikEFE - -
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Cost A E 47,730 52,578
Accumulated impairment 25 RE (47,730) (52,578)
Net carrying amount 1R E A - -

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to
the software development cash-generating unit, which is under the
Services segment, for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the software development cash-generating
unit is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 6%.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, due to the continuous losses
incurred by the subsidiary principally engaged in software development,
the directors, by discounting the future cash flow generated from the
subsidiary at the discount rate applied to cash flow projections of 6%,
considered the goodwill of approximately HK$1,572,000 (2009:
HK$6,406,000) was fully impaired.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the software
development cash-generating unit. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in
the year immediately before the budget year.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

2009/10 F 5
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2010 — %

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

T ImRME

TFE=A=+—H

19. BEFREE

Group rE
Deferred
Patentsand  development Systems
licences costs software Total
HERER It
FEA R BB A RGEBH @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
BYETT BYTFT BEFTT EBMFT
31 March 2010 —E-ZEF=HA=+—H
At 1 April 2009: RZZEZTNFWOA—R:
Cost DFN] 6,457 - 35,181 41,638
Accumulated amortisation RETEEE RORE
and impairment (2,224) - (35,181) (37,405)
Net carrying amount IR T F (B 4,233 - - 4,233
Cost at 1 April 2009, net of RZZETNFMA—RHZ
accumulated amortisation BCASME - 00 R AT EESH
and impairment KORE 4,233 - - 4,233
Amortisation provided NEFH#H
during the year (1,411) - - (1,411)
At 31 March 2010 R-_E—ZTF=F=+—H 2,822 - - 2,822
At 31 March 2010: RZE—FTF=R=+—§:
Cost KA E 6,457 - 35,181 41,638
Accumulated amortisation ZEEERRE
and impairment (3,635) - (35,181) (38,816)
Net carrying amount IR % B 2,822 - - 2,822

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s ImAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

19. EREEE)

Group rE
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
EMHE R iR
AT A RPN R Et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETFoT EETT BB For BB For
31 March 2009 —EENRFE=ZRA=+—H
At 1 April 2008: R-ZEN\EMA—A:
Cost A fE 6,457 90,062 - 96,519
Accumulated amortisation RET I RORE
and impairment (931) (90,062) - (90,993)
Net carrying amount IR EFE 5,526 = = 5,526
Cost at 1 April 2008, net of RZZZNFMHA—BZ
accumulated amortisation BCANE - R Rt S
and impairment KO (E 5,526 - - 5,526
Additions NE - - 35,181 35,181
Amortisation provided AREF E
during the year (1,411) - - (1,411)
Impairment during the year RNEFRE - = (35,181) (35,181)
Exchange realignment ME X 3 % 118 - - 118
At 31 March 2009 R_ZBEZENF=HA=+—H 4,233 - - 4,233
At 31 March 2009: RZZEThE=RA=+—H:
Cost XA fE 6,457 - 35,181 41,638
Accumulated amortisation 2 EERRE
and impairment (2,224) - (35,181) (37,405)
Net carrying amount iR % & 4,233 = = 4,233
During the year ended 31 March 2009, in view of the change in market RBEZZZNF=ZA=1+—HILFER ART%
demand, the directors considered that the carrying value of the systems EREMAE EKERLFRRNEER BRAE
software was irrecoverable after taking into consideration the estimated FWREETRGBRGZEEE AEERNHEE

future revenue. Impairment losses of approximately HK$35,181,000 were

recognised accordingly.

35,181,000 2 B {E & 18 °

2009/10 £ BN EBIERAER QA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2010 —

T-THE=A=+—A

126

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 200 RAHBLAAZRE
Company
AT
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETNF
HK$000 HK$000
BT B FT
Unlisted shares, at cost FELEMR - BAEAK 699,407 699,407
Capital contribution in respect of employee UBRHDEZHEEZHESERNLE
share-based compensation 60,824 57,406
760,231 756,813

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

TEMBLRFEMOT:

Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable

registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

NG

MBI/ BRITK BAK

A% BEREELY BERACZEE B# CF:3 TEXH
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 - Investment holding
RBERAREE 5,125% 7T REER
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
BHEBERB AR Bk BT REER
Digital China (China) Limited** Mainland China HK$1,000,000,000 = 100 Systems integration and
18N ERTE (R B BB A B LEibN 7 11,000,000,0007T distribution of I products
AHEKRDHITE M@
Chengdu Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$5,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
REBBMEEER AT B B 7 #5,000,0007T distribution of IT products
AEERRAHETER

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

127

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s ImAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

20.

Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable

RMBARAZRE (&)
TEMBARFENT: (8)

registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
ARRELER
FMRL/ BETR BA

L BRREELY BRkREzEE E# o % TEER
Shenyang Digital China Limited*# Mainland China HK$5,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
EHEMNEEER AR A B A BE 7 #5,000,0007T distribution of IT products

ZRERRAHTER
Shanghai Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
EBRMEBERD A" SN 7%10,000,0007T distribution of IT products

ZBEKRRDHTER
Digital China (Shenzhen) Limited** Mainland China HK$12,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
BMEE ORI BR AR FRE A e 76%12,000,0007T distribution of IT products

ABEKRRDHTER
Xian Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
AN EBERAR" FR A e 76%10,000,0007T distribution of IT products

ZMEXRDHITE R
Wuhan Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$58,830,000 - 100 Systems integration and
REMMNEBER LA R AR 7% #58,830,0007T distribution of IT products

AREXRDHITE R
Nanjing Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
ARMMNEEERAR R AR #%%3,000,0007C distribution of IT products

ZREXRDHITER
Guangzhou Digital China Limited*~ Mainland China HK$12,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
BN EEERAR- R AR 7 112,000,0007C distribution of IT products

AREXRDHITER
Jinan Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$2,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
BEEMMNEBEERAR" R AR 7##2,000,0007T distribution of IT products

2009/10 F 5
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

128

20.

Nominal value

RMBARZRE (&)
TEMBARFENT: (8)

Percentage of equity attributable

registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

ANEEE RS

HEMRL/ BRITR BOk

=L BRREELY BERAZEE H#& & TEXH
Digital China Marketing & Services Ltd. British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding
ABERAREE (E REER
Digital China Technology Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$1,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
WHNEBEHBEERERAA Bt/ REAE 7 #1,000,0007C AETER
Digital China Advanced Systems Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$300,000,000 - 60.98 Systems integration and
BHEBEXZGERRA Bt/ mE AR 7 %300,000,0007C distribution of IT products
ARERRAHETER
Digital China (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BB (BE)BRAA BE 7 #10,0007T PETER
E-Olympic International Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Holding of trademarks
EREAREE (E RABR
Digital China Networks, Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
BNEBREERAR" EBEARES 10,000,0003% 7T REEKR
Digital China Networks (HK) Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$2 - 100 Distribution of
BMEBERE(ER)ERAR BB/ HEARE BT networking products
DHBRE R
Digital China (Shanghai) Networks Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Development and
WMEE (L) BRER AR RE AR 7 %3,000,0007T distribution of
networking products
RERDHBRER
Digital China Networks (Beijing) Limited**  Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Development and
BHEBEBE LR ERRA" HEIA B 76%3,000,0007T distribution of

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

129

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s ImAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

200 RAHBLAAZRE(E)

TEMBRARFEOT: (B)

Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable

registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
NG L £
MR BETR BAL
=L BRREERY BERAzEE E# 8 TEXK
Grace Glory Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding
BECEXERRA RERBRES (E REER
Digital China Software (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 60.98 Investment holding
WHEBERTEVAR AR RELBRES (E REEKR
Beijing Digital China Limited* Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
R MNEEERAR HE K B A K #1,000,000,0007T distribution of IT products
ABEKRRDHTER
Beijing Digital China Supply Chain Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Services Co., Ltd.* FR K e A K #10,000,0007T DEITER
b M B 4k e SRR 5 B R A)
Shenzhen Instant Logistics Co., Ltd.* Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Provision of logistic services
RYMEDRERAT PN A K #5,000,0007C R R
Digital China (Zhengzhou) Limited* Mainland China RMB5,100,000 - 90 Systems integration and
NS (BM)ER QA B K [ AR ¥5100,0007T distribution of IT products
ARERRABTER
Talent Gain Developments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
KEEARES (E REER
Power Gateway Limited British Virgin Islands Us$100 - 100 Investment holding
ABERARES 1005 7T REER
Beijing Digital China Si-Tech Information Mainland China RMB43,715,000 - 49.5* Research and development,
Technology Co., Ltd.* ("STQ") FRED K e AR #43,715,0007T application and maintenance
RS B a5 S R ITR A of software products
ARAR(BES]) PHhER HERAE
NRARHERRRE RS
Hangzhou Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Systems integration and
NN EEER AR FRE A e 7 #3,000,0007T distribution of IT products

2009/10 F 5
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

130

20.

RMBARZRE (&)
TEMBARFENT: (8)

Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable

registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
ERFEG RS
BRI BRITR Aok
A% TRREERY BERACZEE BE# & TEXK
Digital China Software Limited** Mainland China US$6,000,000 - 100 Software development and
BMEEREERAA" B A B 6,000,000% 7t maintenance services
R ELRERSE
Digital China Macao Commercial Macao MOP1,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Offshore Limited R Y& P7%1,000,0007T DEITER
BHEBRPERFEERBERAA
Fuzhou Digital China Company Limited** ~ Mainland China HK$10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BN BB HR AR HE KR 7 #10,000,0007 P 8HITE @
Changsha Digital China Company Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Limited** B A B 7 1#20,000,0007T 2 $HITE M
ROMMEBER A"
Digital China (Hefei) Company Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BMER () BR DA LA B 7 %10,000,0007T 2 $HITE M
Wise Source Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding
EREAREE (E REER
Cellular Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BEREBRAA &k BEAT REEKR
Digital China Information Technology Mainland China RMB333,720,900 - 60.98 Systems integration services,
Service Co., Ltd.+ A B AR #333,720,9007T application software

HWNBBESRMREERAE-

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10
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31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 200 RAMIBRARIZKRE (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) FTEMBARFRBNOT: (&)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable
registration and of issued and to the Company
Name operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
APR GRS
HEMmKL/ BEAR B
A% BEREERY BERAZHE H#E &% TEEH
Digital China Advanced Systems Service Mainland China RMB500,000,000 - 60.98  Systems integration, software
Limited* K B A R #500,000,0007C development and
BMEBERREXREERAA maintenance services
RER
YR RRE RS
Shanghai Digital China Information Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 60.98  Systems integration, software
Technology Service Co., Ltd.* lEiN A& #10,000,0007T development and
EERNEEEERMREERAR maintenance services
ES kS
HHRERRERS
Digital China Financial Software Ltd.** Mainland China HK$100,000,000 - 60.98 Research and development,
MHEEREREERAR" B K 7 #100,000,0007C application and maintenance
of software products
HHERZBEK
P DR
ERRRERS
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese + ZERAZRNEBNEZAAMER 2R XA °
registered names.
A The Chinese names are the trade names but not the official names of these A ZERNRAZRXEBNESEHE  WFEHEXNETRE -
companies.
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law. # BEFREZFMECRENEDE -

~ Registered as Sino-foreign joint ventures under the PRC law.
This company is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control
over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Except for Digital China (HK) Limited, Digital China Limited, Digital China
Technology Limited, Digital China Advanced Systems Limited, Digital China
Networks (HK) Limited, Digital China Macao Commercial Offshore Limited
and Cellular Investments Limited, the statutory audits for the above
subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other
member firm of Ernst & Young global network.

~ RETEEREMELATIGEDRE -
* ERARAE W AT ZEGE  LARTDEAMBARA
i o

EERARLERMBIARAMBEARNE RNKREAREE
CEBREAFESEAEEEEFHEZEKRIHD °
EERR/MIEEMHBRATNEN  BERBBARIT
£ o

BiaMeil(ER)ARAR  #MBEBEAERAA - 48
MNBBERRBERAERQA  @MNBBEXKRGERA
A MNEBEEKEB)ARAE - MM BEE R
FRERBAERARDLBRIKERRARSIN - LK
JB A B KA TE MRS R X 3F B B LOK B AT R = AP
KL KRR EPTE MR REEKE TR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts of these
amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

21, BW (BN KWERERE

Y (BB ARFENEER 2AREEE
EEH - ZERA/ () MBAREZIREER

HRAVEEMEE -

22, RERESCEzER

Group
AEH
2010 2009
—E-BF T NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT B For
Share of net assets BIEEEFE 4,819 7,235
Provision for impairment R (1,034) (1,034)
3,785 6,201

The Group's trade receivable balance due from the jointly-controlled entity
is disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the principal jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

AL E R — R AR 2 2 BB 5 IR SRR

B L B S R R M 5E29 ©
FTEHREHCEZHFBOT:

Percentage of

Place of Particular of issued  ownership interest
incorporation/ share held/  attributable to the
Name registration registered capital Group Principal activities
EMRIL BEERTRG LrEEEGHEE
=L B =& A1 BHEADL FTEXK
Carrick Technology Limited" British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 45 Investment holding
REREBRES each REER
BREBIZET
Z &R
Digital China BB Limited*" Mainland China Registered capital 45 Sale of software and
IR MNBISE SRR AR AR Fh K US$1,460,000 maintenance services
A E A BHHERRE
1,460,000 T
Suzhou Digital China JieTong Technology Mainland China Registered capital 30 Sale of software and

Co., Ltd*" SACTPNS RMB1,000,000
MM B REN RERAR" A& AR
A R #1,000,0007T
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese +
registered names.
A Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of Ernst & Young A

global network.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s ImAR M

31 Ma

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 22.

The Group's shareholdings in the jointly-controlled entities are held
through the subsidiaries of the Company.

The above table lists the jointly-controlled entities of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other jointly-controlled entities would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

All the above jointly-controlled entities have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the
Group's jointly-controlled entities:

rch2010 2 —&F = =+—H

REREZESEEZES (E)

AEERAERESEEZRETIEBRA

AFA -

NCIPAL) PN

EXERRLRMBZAEERRAENCEHAEEAR
FEZRBEREAREBLAEAERAEEFACER
i  BEERARMINHEMARZEGCEER - K&

RIEBRITEK

bt Fr A AL R R 4 200 B IR AE 2R N I IS R

FIR o

TRITAEELRZEFEE 2 HBERBME:

2010 2009
—E-BF —ZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFTT B FT
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ EiEHERAZES X EEREE:
assets and liabilities:
Current assets mBEE 11,681 10,838
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,214 1,218
Current liabilities RE AR (8,076) (4,821)
Net assets EEFE 4,819 7,235
Share of the jointly-controlled GRS EE:
entities’ results:
Total revenues FEE N 13,566 11,411
Total expenses B (13,929) (11,189)
Tax HIE (279) (262)
Loss after tax Rt ER (642) (40)

2009/10 £ #f 188 N
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. REEQARzZER

Group

rE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$000 HK$000
B FT BT T
Share of net assets EEEEFE 199,999 23,409
Goodwill on acquisition (note) F U B E A 2 B (72 72,314 =
Provision for impairment BE B (7,140) =
265,173 23,409

Note:  The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset during the year ended 31 March
2010 arose from the acquisition of SJI Inc.

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: =E

Place of Particular of issued

EEZHE BIEEAMEE -

BHEARZHEMT

Percentage of
ownership interest

fiz: ARBE-ZT-—ZTHF=A=+—-RLEFEARREI Inc.f

incorporation/ share held/ attributable to the
Name registration registered capital Group Principal activities
MR BREERTRE & B AT
B4 BB AMERFEE EREEZBOL TEXH
Digital China Golden Vista Ordinary share of HK$1 30 Investment holding

Hong Kong
Company Limited" N5 each
BNEESIRAR A" BREEBEIT
ZEER

Mainland China

Digital China Golden Vista (Beijing) Registered capital

Technology Co., Ltd.** Fp K B HK$800,000
HNEHE SRR B T E AR
ARAE" 75 #800,0007T

Mainland China
AR K B

Beijing Digital China Golden Vista
Technology Co., Ltd.*"
ftRele B RKREFRAF"

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000
A E AR

A K #10,000,0007C

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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RHUSERZFRR
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B8 IR 75
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e
s mAR M :

31 March2010 —E—ZF=ZHA=+—H
23. REZEQATzEDR(E)

TEBERRZFBOT : (B)

Percentage of

Place of Particular of issued ownership interest
incorporation/ share held/registered attributable to the
Name registration capital Group Principal activities
HMRL BEERITRG A& B BEAG PR
£ BB HEMERFE EREEZEIL TEER
SJlInc.* Japan Registered capital 14.42# IT systems development,
B JPY2,843,601,604 software products,
EERIEE PN and information related
2,843,601,604H products, and offers
petrochemicals engineering
services
TRHRAE  BHERK
EMEEER -
ARRBHALIRRS
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their Chinese & ZERRZEXERBHEZEEMBEL 2P XA -
registered names.
e Listed on the JASDAQ of Jasdaq Securities Exchange, Inc.. @ REHERBHIHH LD -
# This company is accounted for as an associate of the Group as the Group is able to # REBHEF U RAF20%H X ARE  HEAREGEEATLE -
exercise significant influence over the company because it holds 20% of the voting Wt AR TIERASK BB E RF] -
power of the company.
A Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of Ernst & Young A FEEBLKEGHMEBEIRLT KSR EHERHM D
global network. R B FT &A% ©
The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held through the AEBERBENRZRETDFEBARR ZHME QB
subsidiaries of the Company. g
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion of EEZRALERMBCASERE ARHAEERNFE
the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a CEBEERZEBIEAEEBEEFELIERDMN -
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other EZRAMILEMBEARER  HEREBRIT
associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of K °
excessive length.
All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity method L FBEBE AR RER AN UM RERIIR

in these financial statements.

2009/10 £ BB ZERAER QA
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 23. RBELATFzESE(R)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the TRITAEEREARZHBERNBE (e E
Group's associates extracted from their management accounts: EBRRK)
2010 2009
—E-E2F —EThEF
HK$'000 HK$000
BETT B F T
Assets EE 1,717,899 85,978
Liabilities B (820,144) (19,136)
Revenue e A 587,507 138,994
Profit il 42,853 29,178
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24, AHHEZRE
Group
TEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT B F T
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FLEMERTE  BREA 103,921 103,921
Less: Accumulated impairment loss B BEHRERE (2,425) (2,425)
101,496 101,496
The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which PR EBEERESFRE  ZEREWETE R
were designated as available-for-sale financial assets. HESHEE -
The Group’s unlisted equity investments are measured at cost less REE 7 FEETMEDBERRARBREREBEEK
accumulated impairment losses. Their fair values cannot be measured HREBESEENSEMGH 2 EEESETERAN
reliably because the probabilities of various estimates within the range HEATEE MEEAUEFEHEATEE-
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair values.
OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. HittEWKE

The balance represented the outstanding cash consideration due from
Beijing Digital China Information Technology Academe Co. Ltd. (“Beijing
DCITACL") in respect of its acquisition of the Group’s 19.51% equity
interest in DCITS during the year. Beijing DCITACL is a related party of the
Company, in which Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, has beneficial interest in this company. Further
details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s circular dated 6
October 2009.

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement of Section 161B of Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance, the maximum amount outstanding during the year
amounted to HK$334,738,000.
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26. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as
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26. EEBIIE
REERBEENBERAREERNEZHUT :

follows:
Group xE
Deferred tax assets BT HE =
2010
—E-2%
Losses available Fair value
for offsetting adjustment of
against future Asset other
taxable profits provisions receivables Others Total
AT A MK 8
RRERD Hth e RIE 2
BH 2 ER BERE ALEERE Hitr st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF BEF BEF BEFT BEF
At 1 April 2009 N—_ZETNEFEMA—A 16,070 18,243 - 21,098 55,411
Deferred tax credited/ AEERNEYRZRPET
(charged) to the income A/ (k) 2 EE
statement during the year HIE (1,498) 4,970 28,238 10,505 42,215
Gross deferred tax assets RZT—TF
at 31 March 2010 =A=+—-H2
BEBHEERS 14,572 23,213 28,238 31,603 97,626

2009/10 F
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EEBEE)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as EEREEERBBERAFERNZHOT : (B)
follows: (continued)
Group E
Deferred tax liabilities BEHFEE
2010
—E-EF
Unrealised
losses from
intragroup  Revaluation of
transactions properties Others Total
EERRS
EE2
RERER MESH Hit it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BYFT BYFT BEFT BYFT
At 1 April 2009 RZZETNFMHA—H 16,317 2,737 12,181 31,235
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  ANF & AW = K
to the income statement ok (GTA)Z
during the year RIET I 7,550 11,321 (1,598) 17,273
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-ZE—ZEF=A=+—H
at 31 March 2010 ZEETIEAELLE 23,867 14,058 10,583 48,508
Net deferred tax credited to the ~ ANFE A EWRZFE R P A
income statement during the Z BT IR R
year (note 11) (Htat11) (24,942)
Net deferred tax assets recognised R=ZE—FTF=HF=+—H
in the consolidated statement TEHRETBRAEP
of financial position MR ZIELERIE
at 31 March 2010 BEFHE 49,118
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EEHIE(H)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as EEREEERBBERAFERNZHOT : (B)
follows: (continued)
Group Py
Deferred tax assets BT HE =
2009
—ETNF
Losses available
for offsetting
against future Asset
taxable profits provisions Others Total
AR 8
R R e AR B
A2 B R BERE HAth #at
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
B F T B F T B F T B F T
At 1 April 2008 RZZETNFHA—H 8,749 22,840 26,146 57,735
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ~ ANEERNEWZRFFTA
to the income statement (k) 2 EIEFE 1B
during the year 7,108 (5,055) (5,593) (3,540)
Exchange realignment b N AR 213 458 545 1,216
Gross deferred tax assets RZEZTNF=A=+—H
at 31 March 2009 2R FE I A FE 8RR 16,070 18,243 21,098 55,411

2009/10 F
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

T ImRME

TE=A=+—H

26.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as

follows: (continued)

Group

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealised losses
from intragroup

i FEBLR (')
BEEBREENBERAFEAZSNT : ()

&
BEFFEEE
2009
T NF

Revaluation of

transactions properties Others Total
SEARS
EEZ
REREE MEERH HAth B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB For BB For BB For B For
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZN\FEOA—H 23,882 2,680 11,693 38,255
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ A& E AW = K F
to the income statement ok (GTA)Z
during the year RIET I (8,098) - 272 (7,826)
Exchange realignment BE A B 533 57 216 806
Gross deferred tax liabilities R—ZZNF=A=+—H
at 31 March 2009 ZERRIBAREER 16,317 2,737 12,181 31,235
Net deferred tax credited to the ~ AN& 8 REWZ KRB FHA
income statement during the ZIRFET IR E R
year (note 11) (Bti#11) (4,286)
Net deferred tax assets recognised R=_ZEZTNF=A=+—H
in the consolidated statement FiRE B RR TR
of financial position BRZETEHE
at 31 March 2009 BESFE 24,176

Digital China Holdings Limited
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EEEBE(E)
The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately ﬁ%lﬂ( B B K BE 2 77 8 &5 18 4975 #5213,664,0007T
HK$213,664,000 (2009: HK$197,671,000) which are due to expire within (ZZEZT N F: #5%197,671,0007T) T ARNEHEEE
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the subsidiaries in BEZHBATR ZRKRRERM N - EERAFANE
which the losses arose. These tax losses and certain deductible temporary e BRI ERIEE ?‘5 K& T R HURCE R E A B
differences of approximately HK$100,748,000 (2009: HK$121,766,000) #100,748,0007t (= T & 1, 4 : % #121,766,0007T) Jb
have not been recognised as deferred tax assets since they have arisen in REEEEBEB—BHEEZHBAR MUY RERAE
subsidiaries that have been making losses for some time. EHEEE -
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is BEPBECEMGHE  PEAEZIBERERER
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign SN EEDIRRE - FIRI0% .25 % ’%ﬂﬁﬁi?ﬂﬁ o
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement has ZHER=ZTE )\¢ A—HEBEEX ]IL ﬁﬁ n=
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 TLE+ A=+ —BZBEEXZRF - WESP .7(
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a PEENREEEZRBEE §§Eﬁ Il fR % 1
tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign FTERZEREATRE AEE 2 BRBER%
investors. For the Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group R10% o A K B A «Tfﬁ@ﬁ v NN
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those RABH-ZZTENF-A—RABELEZRFAMHIRTZ
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated REBMMBHABME o
from 1 January 2008.
At 31 March 2010, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding RZE—ZTF=A=+—8 BAEEZRAHEKE
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to ZIWBARERTARELRN cENAEHmE @ I
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland AERBEMBELHE - EFERAE - EARBER 25
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these MEARKTENRZEHN RZZE-—TF=A=+
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The —B BERAEAENRBARIZRAEHEREZR
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in BEEHABRTIMEECHEBARNABK
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not 304,311,0007t (ZZ T L4 : % %18,109,0007T) °
been recognised totaled approximately HK$304,311,000 (2009:
HK$18,109,000) at 31 March 2010.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AARABRELIAFZRE  TEHAMEHER -
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
INVENTORIES 27. ®EH
Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEThEF
HK$000 HK$'000
EBETT B FT
Trading stock B5FE8 3,368,487 2,136,461
2009/10 4F %7 MMEBEBERARD A



28.

29.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS 28. W (ER)EHNEFZNE
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$000
BT BB TFr
Gross amount due from contract customers BEAfAEMERRBZEREOER
included in other receivables ZHIABE 58,919 103,671
Gross amount due to contract customers EFfAEMENREZENGHRR
included in other payables Z RIB R (130,463) (127,755)
(71,544) (24,084)
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits A BARAE £ 26 KB AR N E B R s T
less recognised losses to date RMEERER 717,839 1,010,617
Less: Progress billings R 2 SRR (789,383) (1,034,701)
(71,544) (24,084)
TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 2. EWESERIREKREE
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$000 HK$000
BYTFT BB TFor
Trade and bills receivables &I & 5 iR 7,015,389 5,948,240
Impairment DERIE] (603,428) (476,747)
6,411,961 5,471,493

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period is generally for a period of 30 days to 180 days. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 29. EBWESRAREREE(H)
An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the R|EER - MBRHERZEREZIRR R EREE
reporting period and net of impairment is as follows: ZIRE DMTEEIEMT :
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —TThE
HK$'000 HK$000
BETT BT
Within 30 days 30K 3,366,585 2,230,866
31 to 60 days 31£260K 548,099 1,145,323
61 to 90 days 61£90K 794,480 734,548
91 to 180 days 91£180K 875,980 819,115
Over 180 days B B180K 826,817 541,641
6,411,961 5,471,493
The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as BRESER 2 REBBZESHFROT:
follows:
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —TThE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
At 1 April RIEA—H 476,747 335,804
Amount written off as uncollectible R B 2 H 38 & 58 (9,566) (29,516)
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) BRZREEE L) 136,247 163,020
Exchange realignment BE 3 A B - 7,439
At 31 March R=A=+—8 603,428 476,747

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of HK$176,094,000
(2009: HK$207,333,000). The individually impaired trade receivables
related to customers that were in financial difficulties and only a portion of
the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

2009/10 F
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not considered
to be impaired is as follows:

29.

BRESZERRARERRE (&)
THEREZEKRE SRR R EKE R 2R E& D
BT

Group
&
2010 2009
—E-Z2F —TThEF
HK$'000 HK$000
BETT B F T
Neither past due nor impaired REB A RRE 5,778,832 4,764,981
Less than 30 days past due BE D H30K 357,094 277,179
6,135,926 5,042,160

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of the balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables approximate to
their fair values.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
the associates of the Company’s substantial shareholder and the jointly-
controlled entity of the Group of approximately HK$1,329,000 (2009:
HK$679,000) and HK$296,000 (2009: HK$412,000), respectively.

The above balances are repayable on similar credit terms to those offered
to the major customers of the Group.

Digital China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009/10

REPHERREZRERATIBZHETERPER -
WEEL Y BIERFIAZLER

AMANBEYBEREZEKIRFDEETELERPA
B ZEFPEASEANBRAMNEARLR - RIEB
AR ARAEESRREUZSEBRLETEEL
MERF SAREEFPZEEEETEEANEE
MABRBRRATAZERE - KEB KRR ZES
HREAEMRRERE M INRESE. -

EUWBSER R ERR R 2 REELZEAFEERS

REERKEFERAREUZESHERERKRADR
TERRZHELRARARAEE s —HAREHCEZ
IS B KB #1,329000T(Z BB E L F: B K
679,0007T) & i #296,000L(= & T N & # &
412,0007T) °

LB TIRBERETASBEIER, 2ELUEER

£, fith jm
HIEE -



30.

31.

145

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s mAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZF=ZHA=+—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30. RERRESEEY
Group Company
K PN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —ETAF —E-ZF —TTNEF
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BT B For BT BB TFor
Cash and bank balances ReERBTHESH 1,667,976 1,190,165 1,347 497,854
Time deposits EHF R 1,104,050 544,263 - =
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 2,772,026 1,734,428 1,347 497,854
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of the R|ERR REBUARKETA E’%J) TEZRE
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to approximately R &EBEY A HEBE1,996,560,0007T (ZFFAF -
S — P /=1 M 3 g
HK$1,996,560,000 (2009: HK$603,210,000). The RMB is not freely 7 #603,210,0007) - ARB T EEMRIARAME
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign B RIR EP KB 2 5h E =TS @J 5 % E A
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and ITE&% @ﬁl@ R $§Eﬁj@j§ /Eﬁi/@ﬁﬁ*‘gﬁﬁ SMNE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to XBEZRITBARBHARAME -
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ AR ﬁﬁ'ﬁ GRS géﬂﬂ%g\ﬁ% ° B
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between HERERNERXHAIR—RE—FIF  KAKHE
= nt == = £ 4em g7 =l == +)
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements of ) B By Eﬂﬁ?ﬁ*ﬁy_i ' jﬁ# E\MEJ%E’\]%MEEF,HHﬁ,Tx F
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit R R A ? o RITHE BT RO M MB N Sr T8
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no M & 2 SR1T °
recent history of default.
TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 3. BREZRARECRER
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the R|ERR - BN EBIRNR BN REZRER DT
E a
reporting period is as follows: BIAT
Group
&
2010 2009
—2-%F —ZETNEF
HK$'000 HK$000
EBETT BT T
Within 30 days 30K A 3,939,790 2,724,953
31 to 60 days 31260K 2,040,302 1,060,975
61 to 90 days 61290K 501,732 453,751
Over 90 days B RI0R 727,849 458,024
7,209,673 4,697,703
2009/10 4 BMEEERER QA
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued) 3. BREZRARESEEE)
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled for a ERESRRAETHE - 3 — K HR30K =180k B
period of 30 days to 180 days. WIEE -
The carrying amounts of the trade and bills payables approximate to their ENEIRRARENZRE ZIREAERENFEEEE °
fair values.
Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts due to the AEBENBGRFARENZRESEREREMNAAR
associates of the Company’s substantial shareholder of approximately FERR 2B & DR FOE 4 #511,815,000T (= F
HK$511,815,000 (2009: HK$921,000). T 5 - B #921,0007T)
The above balances are repayable on similar credit terms to those obtained LR ER TR BEAEE T EHERMA T EUEE
from the major suppliers of the Group. IRREE -
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. {TEs®mIEA
Group
&
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TThEF
HK$000 HK$000
EBETT B For
Assets B5E
Forward currency contracts REEREN 15,508 27,097
Liabilities afE
Forward currency contracts RHEEEN 6,456 -

The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts and interest
rate swaps to manage its exchange rate and interest rate exposures. Net
fair value gains of such derivative financial instruments amounting to
HK$102,506,000 were credited to the income statement during the year
(2009: HK$55,532,000).

The carrying amounts of the derivative financial instruments above are the
same as their fair values. The above transactions involving derivative
financial instruments are conducted with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 33. MBRBITER
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRI BIRA X
(B2t A B FT (Bot) FHA Vit avin
Group rE
Current &
Bank loans, unsecured RITE R - EmIKH 0.70-1.08 2010 370,851 0.70-3.03 2009 805,298
Bank loans, secured RITER BER 5.31  2010-2011 33,944 5.31-7.47  2009-2010 19,235
Current portion of long term  £HIRTER 2
bank loans — unsecured B D
- 5.94 2010 50,916 5.94 2009 50,916
455,711 875,449
Non-current kR E
Bank loans, unsecured IRITEFR - EE A 5.94  2011-2013 1,040,600 594  2010-2013 701,516
1,496,311 1,576,965
Group
r&E
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT B For
Analysed into: DT :
Bank loans repayable: EEEZRITER:
Within one year or on demand — F R IR B A 455,711 875,449
In the second year E-_FRN 50,916 50,916
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FZERF(BEEEMSE) 989,684 650,600
1,496,311 1,576,965

2009/10 F
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a) The Company guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans of approximately
HK$1,449,957,000 (2009: HK$1,557,730,000) at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Certain of the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$33,944,000 (2009:
HK$19,235,000) extended by financial institutions to a subsidiary of the Group,
STQ, were secured by a property situated in Mainland China with a value of
approximately HK$22,969,000 (2009: HK$19,009,000) at the end of the reporting
period and 22,290,980 issued shares of STQ in favour of Beijing Zhongguancun
Sci-Tech Guaranty Co. Ltd. (the “Pledgee”), an independent third party, for
securing a guarantee issued by such Pledgee on behalf of STQ at the end of the
reporting period.

(@] Except for bank borrowings of approximately HK$748,441,000 which are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (2009: approximately HK$217,000,000 and
HK$588,298,000 which were denominated in United States dollars (“US$") and in
Hong Kong dollars, respectively), all bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate to their fair
values which are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
at prevailing interest rates.

BOND PAYABLE

In December 2007, Digital China (China) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and three independent third parties entered
into an agreement with the underwriters to issue a bond to institutional
and public investors in Mainland China with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB305 million. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group issued a
RMB200 million (equivalent to approximately HK$226 million) bond (the

“Bond”) for financing the development of IT services business. The Bond

carries interest at a rate of 6.68% per annum, which is payable semi-
annually and will mature in December 2010. For the purpose of the issue
of the Bond, Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd. (“ZGC
Guaranty”), an independent third party, has unconditionally and
irrevocably undertaken joint and several guarantee liabilities in full (the

“Guarantee Liabilities”) in favour of Digital China (China) Limited.

Concurrently, the China Development Bank has authorised its business
department to undertake the general guarantee liability in respect of the
Guarantee Liabilities of ZGC Guaranty, and Digital China Software Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has undertaken joint and
several liabilities in respect of the Guarantee Liabilities of ZGC Guaranty.

The carrying amount of the Group’s bond payable approximates to its fair
value.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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SHARE CAPITAL 35. BA&
Shares Bz 17
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$000
BEFTT B FT
Authorised: VETE
2,000,000,000 (2009: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000f% (ZZEZ N5 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 2,000,000,0000%) & B% I & A& #£0.17C
(2009: HK$0.1) each (ZZTNF BB 2 EBR 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BREITREERM:
1,020,767,581 (2009: 962,390,581) 1,020,767,581 /% (ZZ T J1L 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 962,390,581/% ) & A E (B % #£0.17C
(2009: HK$0.1) each (ZZETAF  BEOIT)ZERRK 102,077 96,239

RBE-ZT-ZFR_ZTNF=A=T—HILFER
ARRMEBETRAR KM EERZSERMT

A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital and share
premium accounts during the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009 is as

follows:
Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BRTEER 28T &)
= B 2% i 8 IR st
Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
lligs3 Vit BB FoT BETFT
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNFMNA—H 963,619,581 96,362 620,567 716,929
Repurchase and cancellation B 8] &2
of shares TR G (a) (1,229,000) (123) (2,764) (2,887)
At 31 March 2009 and RZZEZEANF=A=+—H
1 April 2009 =TT NFMA—AH 962,390,581 96,239 617,803 714,042
Issue of shares BITRMG (b) 57,647,000 5,765 361,235 367,000
Exercise of shares options 1715 B IR © 730,000 73 5,304 5,377
At 31 March 2010 RZTE—ZEF=A=+—H 1,020,767,581 102,077 984,342 1,086,419

2009/10 4 % BB ZERAER QA
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35.

Shares (continued)
Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company repurchased an aggregate
of 1,229,000 ordinary shares at prices ranging between the highest and lowest
purchase prices of HK$2.72 and HK$2.18 per share respectively on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the aggregate
consideration paid (including transaction costs) was approximately HK$2,887,000.
The shares were cancelled upon repurchase and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The
premium of the repurchase was charged against the share premium account.

(b) In September 2009, the Company issued 57,647,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each representing 5.65% of the then enlarged capital of the Company, at the net
price of approximately HK$6.37 per share. The net proceeds of the issue were
approximately HK$367,000,000. Further details of the transaction were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 16 September 2009.

(@] During the year ended 31 March 2010, the subscription rights attaching to
730,000 share options were exercised at subscription prices at HK$5.89 per share,
resulting in the issue of 730,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash
consideration, of approximately HK$4,300,000. At the time when the share
options were exercised, the fair values of these share options in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$1,077,000 previously recognised in the employee
share-based compensation reserve were transferred to the share premium
account.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 36 to the financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 36.

The share option scheme was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and its principal terms are as follows:

(a) Purpose

The Share Option Scheme seeks to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions or potential contributions made or to be made by the
qualified persons (as defined below) to the Group, to motivate the
qualified persons to optimise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group, and to maintain or attract business
relationship with the qualified persons whose contributions are or
may be beneficial to the growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Qualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or officer or director (including
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors)
of any member of the Group or of any associated company, or any
supplier, agent, customer, joint venture partner, strategic alliance
partner, distributor, professional adviser of, or consultant or
contractor to, any member of the Group, or the trustee of any trust
pre-approved by the board of directors of the Company, or the
beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the discretionary
objects) of any of the above-mentioned persons.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme was 86,303,308, which represents approximately
8.45% of share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
these financial statements.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to each
qualified person (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company then in issue. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting of the Company.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (except when the independent non-executive director
is the grantee of such options).

Any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company or any of their respective
associates must, in addition to obtaining the approval of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company, be approved
by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting if such
proposed grant of share options, when aggregated with all options
(whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already granted to
such substantial shareholder or independent non-executive director
during the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant of options, would (i) entitle that relevant person to receive
more than 0.1% of the total issued share capital of the Company
for the time being; and (i) represent an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 based on the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange at the date of such grant.

2009/10 F
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme shall be the period set
out in the relevant offer letter, provided that such period must
expire on the date falling on the tenth anniversary of the offer date.

Acceptance of offers

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted by the grantee
on or before the last date for acceptance of such offer as set out in
the offer letter, which must not be more than 28 business days
from the relevant offer date. A consideration of HK$1.00 shall be
received by the Company on acceptance of each offer.

Basis for determination of the subscription price

The subscription price shall be the highest of (a) the closing price of
the shares on the offer date; (b) the average of the closing prices of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date; or (c) the nominal value of a share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall remain valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing from 18 July 2002, the date on
which such scheme was deemed to take effect in accordance with
its terms.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 36. BREFE (R
The following table shows the movements in the share options under the TERBINEEREAE TERERAEFERNZ Z
Share Option Scheme during the year and the options outstanding at the VA B R ) e G R 181 AR AT 2 BB AR A

beginning and end of the year:

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Exercised Lapsed as at Subscription
Grantee 01/04/2009  during the year  during the year 31/03/2010 price per share Date of grant Exercisable period
RZBEBAF R-ZB-ZF
A—H =RA=+-H
AREA HARTHE AEERTR FFERAX i KT BRABE RLEAH TS
(HKS)
(EET)
(note i) (note i) (note ii)
(B #iv) (H#t) (B #ti)
Directors
s
GUO Wei 960,000 - - 960,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
Y
LIN Yang 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
w5
Other employees 7,040,000 (730,000) (500,000) 5,810,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
HittEE
In aggregate 9,000,000 (730,000) (500,000) 7,770,000
At
Notes: Hiat:
(i) The subscription price of the options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights (i) BRENZEERARAERIKFALBRIERETHE
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. HMBOEER TRz -
(ii) All options granted are subject to a vesting period of four years with 25% (ii) FMAREc EREARFINASAOFENEBE - HHP25%
becoming exercisable on the first anniversary, 25% on the second anniversary, AREREBSET R —BF 2 BRBITE - 25% A R W
25% on the third anniversary and 25% on the fourth anniversary of the respective MBF 2 BRBITE 5% AR B =BFZARBITE -
dates of grant. R25% A R MM B F 2 BRBITE -

2009/10 4 % BB ZERAER QA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on 20 May 2008 (being the date immediately before the
date of grant of the outstanding options) was HK$5.79.

(iv) The weighted average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately
preceding and at the dates of exercise of options were approximately HK$11.68
and HK$12.01 per share, respectively.

(v) No options were cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the year.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
general meetings.

The fair value of the share options granted during the prior year was
approximately HK$19 million of which the Group recognised a share option
expense of HK$4,576,000 (2009: HK$8,451,000) during the year ended
31 March 2010.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was estimated as at
the date of grant, using a binominal model, taking into account of the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%)
Historical volatility (%) 45 per annum
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.6 per annum
Expected life of options (year) 8
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 5.89

3.5 per annum
45 per annum

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the
past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 7,770,000 share
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 7,770,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$777,000 and share premium of approximately HK$44,988,000 (before
issue expenses).
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37.

RESERVES 37. @B
(@)  Group (@) &%
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein REBRAFERMEFEZFERERE
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated CHEIRNEUBREFTECGREERE
statement of changes in equity on page 67 of the financial E A
statements.
Reserve funds EEEL
Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance with the relevant REESAREERPEKNE M B RREF
PRC regulations applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland BHAERBE 2 FE ZERERBEESTRMNU
China. These reserve funds can be used to offset accumulated EIHRFTEE - BTEUREREZHFTADIK ©
losses but are not be distributable in the form of cash dividends.
(b)  Company () AAF
Employee
Share share-based
premium  Contributed compensation Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
BB 4 3% A4
EEZM &
B 17 5 1B iR AR & REEA @t
Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B ot B FT BT BT T BT T Vel v
At 1 April 2008 R-ZE\EmMA—H 620,567 623,689 = 190,248 1,434,504
Total comprehensive income 78 4F & 2 [ i 25 4@ 58
for the year - - - 162,666 162,666
Repurchase and cancellation B[] & &% 8% % 15
of shares 35 (2,764) - - - (2,764)
Equity-settled share option ~ LARR 9 32+ 2 B8 AR 4 %2 HE
arrangements 36 - - 8,451 - 8,451
Proposed final 2009 dividend #t/k =T T hF R K L 13 - - - (140,030) (140,030)
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZBZNF=A=+—8H 617,803 623,689 8,451 212,884 1,462,827
Total comprehensive income R4 & 2 H 4 & 4258
for the year - - - 258,527 258,527
Issue of shares BT 35 361,235 - - - 361,235
Exercise of share options Gd 1 35 5,304 - (1,077) - 4,227
Equity-settled share option  LARR 9 32 1+ 2 B8 B 4 %2 B
arrangements 36 - - 4,576 - 4,576
Proposed final 2010 dividend #1/k —ZF—ZF KRS 13 - - - (288,505) (288,505)
At 31 March 2010 R-ZBE-ZFE=[=+—H 984,342 623,689 11,950 182,906 1,802,887
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37. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Company (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
a corporate reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the
Company'’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended) and
the Bye-Laws of the Company, the contributed surplus can be
distributed to the shareholders, provided that the Company will be
able to pay its liabilities as they fall due and subsequent to the
distribution, the aggregate amount of its total liabilities as well as
the issued share capital and premium is less than the realisable
value of its assets.

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options expire or be forfeited.
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 38.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement for the disposal of its entire interest in DGT, at a
consideration of approximately HK$99,880,000.

Details of the net assets disposed of under the share transfer agreement

i B D F

RBE-Z-—ZF=A=+—RLFERN FEEE
E-ERNEERZEHESMNBTEERRN G 2 EEBR

# - RELAE99,880,0007T °

REERHBAMIMNBEEEFEREMBEZ EH

and its financial impacts are summarised below: M
2010
—E-EF
Notes HK$'000
K it BT
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment W BEKREZE 15 4,682
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBELEEBY 15,959
Inventories TE 925
Trade receivables BB 5 ik 3,875
Prepayments and other receivables T8 < 5RIE R H & U R IE 18,371
Trade payables FEE SR (600)
Other payables and accruals Hih BRI RIERTERE A (6,078)
Tax payable & #7518 (47)
Goodwill arising from acquisition of WEZHENBARER 2
minority interests in the subsidiaries LEREREEEEZHE 18 5,047
42,134
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZHEHEAR K= 5 57,746
99,880
Satisfied by: SRR
Cash & 99,880
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. HEMWEXRE)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the HELZHENBARIZASRRSEENRAFEZS
disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: e
2010
—E2-ZF
HK$'000
BYFT
Cash consideration RENRE 99,880
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERERREEEY (15,959)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in LESHNBARZE SR
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries REZEBYMRAFE 83,921
NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 39. RERTABRME
Major non-cash transaction FTEFBEERS

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the non-cash capital contribution
made by the minority shareholders into a subsidiary of the Group was in
the form of an intangible asset valued at approximately HK$35 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. HAEE

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in
the financial statements were as follows:

RBE-ZZANF=ZA=+—HLFERN " PEER
IAEBHBEIEE TN R EEFERNERE R
BRARZIHEREERLE -

RIBERR  TARRUHBRRBERZIABENOT

Group Company
E /NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTENF —E-ZF —ZETNEF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT B TFr
Guarantees given for banking BNBARIBFERZ
facilities utilised by subsidiaries RITHEEREZER - = 2,492,946 1,972,790
Guarantees given to suppliers for RINBARRMTHER
subsidiaries ZER - - 2,335,515 1,824,515
- - 4,828,461 3,797,305

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10



41.

159

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s ImAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

41, RKREHERH

(@  Aslessor (@) EBHBEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 16 to the financial AEBRBELEHELTHERAEREME
statements) under operating lease arrangements, with leases MBmENEe) MEEROHERT —F
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years. The terms of E=FTE -HOBKRBEEERBL IR
the leases generally also require the tenant to pay security deposits Fe WHIAERBEERMAEHARHES -
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.
At 31 March 2010, the Group had total future minimum lease RZZE—ZEF=A=+—H BEASEHRHE
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants HPEIZIABME LERLY  NEE D H
falling due as follows: BBz RRKEBERNKAT :
Group
rE
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B FT
Within one year —FR 24,365 28,887
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEERF (BEBREMEF) 98 23,108
24,463 51,995
(b)  Aslessee (b) {EBREBEA

The Group leases certain of its office properties and warehouses
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from three months to ten years.

At 31 March 2010, the Group and the Company had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

AEERBEEHELHEEEETHAEY
ERER MATMEHOHEEAT=EAZ
IR e

RZZE-FF=ZA=+—H BERI AR
HWREBY AEERARFIHAIN 2
ARZEEERNKAT

Group Company
rE AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF “ETNEF —E-ZF “ETNEF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT B F T BT B F T
Within one year —FR 96,371 101,534 4,689 4,789
In the second to fifth years, E_FEZERF
inclusive (BEEREME) 125,800 75,685 2,392 7,081
After five years AF % 14,484 7,360 - =
236,655 184,579 7,081 11,870

2009/10 F 5

BN EBERAER A



42.

43.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 — 2 —ZFF = =+—H

COMMITMENTS 4. &
Apart from the operating lease commitments detailed in note 41(b) above, B EXHENDFRNEERERHN  AEERAK
neither the Group nor the Company had any significant commitments. A A A% A ] B R o
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43. BEALIXRS
(I)  Transactions with related parties: (1) HEEATZXRS:
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in BRI BEREEMIOAZN 2 ZERH R4
these financial statements, the Group had the following material BN REBRAFENFATEHBEALTZ
transactions with related parties during the year: BARRG
Group
&
2010 2009
ZE-EF —EThEF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
i it EBETT B For
Lenovo Group Limited and its subsidiaries, RARIEERR 2B & A7
the associates of the Company’s substantial BB E@ AR AR K& EH W%
shareholder: NI
Sale of goods and provision of IT FEEHEZEMRIBMH
services by the Group* IT Al 75 * (i), (iii) 28,833 77,582
Purchases of goods by the Group* KEEEEZEM* (ii) 3,132,257 1,944,860
GE Capital Mauritius Equity Investment (“GE"), 4% J| &% i® A #8442 R R -
a shareholder of DGT, and its subsidiaries: GE Capital Mauritius Equity
Investment ([GEJ) &
H B A A
Provision of IT services by the Group" REERETRS (iii) - 8,826
TIS Inc. (“TIS"), a shareholder of DGT, and its 8N G B A Z R E -
subsidiaries: TIS Inc. ([TIS)) R KM B AR
Provision of IT services by the Group* REBERETRE (iii) - 20,744
Digital China Golden Vista Company Limited A% B 2 B & 2 &) - 18 )1 2085
and its subsidiaries, associates of the S BRARDT K HHKE
Group: NI
Purchases of goods by the Group and AEEBEZEYMR
provision of IT services to the Group 7R £ B 1R 4T AR 7% (ii), (iii) 46,880 38,208

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10



43, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
() Transactions with related parties: (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 R R BN R

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

43. BEALXRB(E)
(1) HEBEALTZRS: ()

Group
&
2010 2009
—EB-2F —TTAE
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
M it BETT B F T
PinHu Digital China BoHai Science & RNEBZBERT - FHeM
Technology Co., Ltd*, an associate of the HBEERRAERAR
Group:
Provision of IT services to the Group A 7R 5% B 1R 4T AR 7% (iii) 2,246 -
NingBo Digital China HongBo Information REBZBE QT - BN
Technology Company Limited*, an BB A EERMARAR
associate of the Group:
Provision of IT services by the Group ANEE B R HITER 75 (iii) 1,243 =
DCMS and its subsidiaries, associates of the 7<% & 7 Bt %.A ’A Al * DCMS K&
Group: HitB A
Sale of goods and provision of IT K%@iﬁ%Z%’i%&ﬁ:@lﬁ
services by the Group® ITAR 75 @ (i), (iii) - 1,085
Beijing Digital China System Access Software A% E 7 £ REH % bR E‘
Limited*, a jointly-controlled entity of the BN RS GARA
Group:
Purchases of goods by the Group and REFBRE 2EYMRRFAA
provision of IT services to the Group SEREITRS (i), (iii) 8,145 2,299
Digital China BB Limited", a jointly-controlled A% & 7 £ REH % bR E‘
entity of the Group: BINBIBEERRBERA
Sale of goods and provision of IT $$$ﬁ%2%ﬁ%&
services by the Group REITR% (i), (i) 3,793 3,771

2009/10 4 % BN EBERAER A
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31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 43. BEAXXZ (&)
(I)  Transactions with related parties: (continued) (1) HEBEEALTZRS: (&)

Notes: Mt

(i) The sales were made with reference to the listed prices and conditions (i) ZEHERBALEERNEFZEFIEHZFIE
offered to the major customers of the Group. R A& A T 1T -

(i) The purchases were made at prices mutually agreed between the Group (i) ZEBEDRBEASEEFHEBEATETHE
and the corresponding related parties. ZABIEHELT o

(iii) The prices for the provision of IT services were determined at rates (iii) REITREZERDIBEASEEEEEEAL
mutually agreed between the Group and the corresponding related & 75 1 € i 5 o
parties.

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their + 5%%/&57 ZEXABDERAEMERZH XA
Chinese registered names. 7 o

* The related party transactions with the associates of the Company’s * BARAEBMR 2B E RF ZEQL ALR SR
substantial shareholder constitute continuing connected transactions as BRETRAETONAEER 2 HERERS °
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

2 GE and TIS ceased to be substantial shareholders of DGT and therefore # RZEBAE=A=+—BILFEER  GERTIST
GE, TIS and their respective associates ceased to be connected persons of BRDGTZETEWHR - Mt BB EWMRA -
the Company under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March GE TISKREZBZHMEATBRARNAZHAEA
2009. The amounts of the Group’s continuing connected transactions t A-TTN\FEA-HBERESATHRA
with GE, TIS and their subsidiaries for the period from 1 April 2008 up to NAZBEBATHE 2 HRRK  AEBEGE - TIS
the respective dates of ceasing to be connected persons of the Company LHENBRARZEERERISE NN ABE
were approximately HK$8,826,000 and HK$20,744,000, respectively. 8,826,0007T & 7 #20,744,0007T °

O Upon the disposal of the Group's entire equity interest in DCMS, an © REE-_ZTTAF A=+ HIEEFERABAE
associate of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2009, DCMS B RDCMS (RE B 2 — B & R A) 2 Bk
ceased to be a related party of the Group. HER DIMSTBREALE Y BEAL °

(I)  Outstanding balances with related parties: () HEBEEALZERE£IHE:

(@  Details of the Group’s trade balances with the associates of @ MRBEHR AEEEARFNETERE
the Company'’s substantial shareholder and jointly-controlled ZHBMENTREREH X B EH
entities as at the end of the reporting period are included in ZEEEEH AU R KM 2931 o
notes 29 and 31 to the financial statements.

(b)  As at the end of the reporting period, the amounts due (b) RIBEHKR BURARAEZREZH
from the associates of the Company’s substantial /N 7 ZREBEEEMNRE - ?;zﬁ&
shareholder included in the Group’s prepayments, Hh e IR 2R I8 - H A 498 171,621,000
deposits and other receivables totaled approximately T (ZZEZEHE : 5%47,336,0007T) °
HK$171,621,000 (2009: HK$47,336,000).

()  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (ny *EEHEREBABZRHM:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$000
BETFT BB T

Short term employee benefits REESREMN 18,555 21,455

Post-employment benefits EEEER 121 109

Equity-settled share option expenses VAR 0 215 2 B IR R B 2 1,587 2,780

Total compensation paid to key management personnel X e s EIE A B 2 M A 20,263 24,344

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to FRESME 2 E—SFBHRNUMBEHRRM

the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s ImAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44, RERESZEBMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2010
Group

Financial assets

RBEHR SeMIABERZREEQNT

—g-%f
AEE
Financial assets at Available-
fair value through for-sale
profit or loss Loans and financial
- held for trading receivables assets Total
UAFEEFER
BE) A
BENEREE Bk AHHEZ
-FEERE & W kR EHEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETFT BETT BETFT BETFT

Available-for-sale investments

Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

AHEHEZRE - - 101,496 101,496

FEW B 5 iR 3K & e Uk = B - 6,411,961
BERBNRE BEk
Hih WK B 2 &R/

- 6,411,961

BE - 933,285 - 933,285
Derivative financial instruments TESBIA 15,508 - - 15,508
Cash and cash equivalents RERREERBY - 2,772,026 - 2,772,026
15,508 10,117,272 101,496 10,234,276

Financial liabilities EHER

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHBATEZ

tREE

HK$'000

BT

Trade and bills payables R E SRR R ENER 7,209,673
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BEREMENRELEREATZ2EREE 1,046,441
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA 6,456
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mt B RITERK 1,496,311
Bond payable B EH 226,296
9,985,177

2009/10 £ BN EBIERAER QA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

164

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 44, ZEHESZERWMITAHE)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as RBEHRR SERITARNZEEAERT : (8)

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2009 —EENE
Group KE
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets Available-
at fair value through for-sale
profit or loss Loans and financial
— held for trading receivables assets Total
LAFEEFER
BEEA
BafepiE ExEk  A#HEEZ
-RBIEEE JE W5k 18 CRMEE BEt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B For B TFor Vit b Vel avin
Available-for-sale investments AHHEZRE = = 101,496 101,496
Trade and bills receivables JE W B 5 iR 3R K e U R R - 5,471,493 - 5,471,493
Financial assets included in prepayments, B&RBMNHE  LE &
deposits and other receivables Hin BHKIBFR 2 & @t
BE - 282,663 - 282,663
Derivative financial instruments TESBMIA 27,097 - - 27,097
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEEEY = 1,734,428 = 1,734,428
27,097 7,488,584 101,496 7,617,177
Financial liabilities EHRE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REHKATELZ
TRBE
HK$'000
Vot
Trade and bills payables ERNE SRR R ENRER 4,697,703
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BEREMENFERERERTZEMARS 840,486
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B RITER 1,576,965
Bond payable ERES 226,296
7,341,450

Digital China Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s mAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZF=ZHA=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 44, RERESzEREIA(E)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

RBERR SR IARFZREENT : (B)

Company AT

Financial assets TREE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
EXREKWRRKE Bk e WA
HK$000 HK$000
BT B FT

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits B2 & RTENIE « ¢ K H b B FKIEH
and other receivables LERMEE 2,918 10,664
Due from subsidiaries LS PRt B8 X B R IR 3,084,242 2,675,220
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 1,347 497,854
3,088,507 3,183,738

Financial liabilities EHER
2010 2009
—E-ZfF —EENF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBHERATEZ REHEKAFTEZ
SREE TRBE
HK$’000 HK$000
BT B FoT

Financial liabilities included in other payablesand ~ B8R EMENKBEREREBTZ &6
accruals BfE 10,483 6,742
Due to subsidiaries FE S BT /B A R 518 1,645,357 2,235,504
1,655,840 2,242,246

2009/10 4 % MMEBERAR DA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T ImRME

31 March2010 =& —2&=A=+—H

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 45. RFEESER
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the AEEFERATISERABEERRENERIAZATE
fair value of financial instruments: &:
Level 1: fair value measured based on quoted price (unadjusted) in EH—: AFEEFERBREBEEERT S LER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities BOREABR)NESEEXAE
Level 2: fair value measured based on valuation techniques for which EH—: ATEEFERREMBATFEBEE
all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair TENTEREZEHEHEELREES
value are observable, either directly or indirectly 25 6 {4 (B B i
Level 3: fair value measured based on valuation techniques for which £H= AFBEFERRBHATFTBEFEAXN
all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair FENTERZRTEERAHRINT
value are not based on observable market data (unobservable % BUHR  f E Bl COF 7 B R B ST A
inputs) %)
As at 31 March 2010, the Group held the following financial instruments RZZE—ZEF=A=+—H AEBEFEEUTURFE
measured at fair value: BETENERIA:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2010: R-E—FEF=ZA=+—-HULAFEEFTENEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
X £ 4= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BYFT BT BYTFIT
Derivative financial instruments TESmMIA 1,239 14,269 - 15,508
Liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 March 2010: RZIE-—SE=ZA=1+-HULAFEEFENEAR:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
/- £ e &= st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BT BT BT BT
Derivative financial instruments MESRIA - 6,456 - 6,456

During the year ended 31 March 2010, there were no transfers into or out
of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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167

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, a bond payable and cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group's capital expenditure and operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and
bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally
interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose is to
manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group's
operations and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, market risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below. The Group's accounting policies in
relation to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group's borrowings with floating interest rates.

At 31 March 2010, approximately HK$748,441,000 (2009:
HK$588,298,000) of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings bore interest
at floating rates. The Group believes that the exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates is minimal.

2009/10 F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s mAR M

46.

31 March2010 —ZE—ZEF =/ =+—H
HMERREBEEEREE
BRIOTERIN AEBZEEZeR T EABENBERTE
FoENEFRReAREEEBY ZE2BITED
IZRBRANEBEZEARIRLELEEES - &
CEEEREHEMEREERAR  fIMLEBREH
EREEZCRREIRZILEREBEARENES

i )

RN ENRE -

AEBEFATUMETARS  HP T EREMNEEH
LREMEREH FUANAERHAEEERLER
BMEMELNNERINER R -

AEESBIAREE 2 XERABRANEAR B

CHNERER - EERRBRERBERR cEFSR
AEEREESERR RE  ARBEGARNT -

AEEOBBMITET AN S BRI M |mEM
2.4 -

2R
AEBEFAE G2 TSN XEEE

BHXABRZERER

TEAREERT

MR-E-—ZTE=ZFA=+—-H AEBEZHEEROE
#748,441,0007T (Z T T N F : 8 #588,298,0007T) Jb
BEHMRFAE - AKEREERZMSIREFHE
e BB BT A o
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31 March2010 —E—ZFF = =+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 46.
(continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

MBERBREEERERBEE)

2 =k ()

RBERR  TRETAEAEZA Y“@(ﬁﬁﬁfm“

HRFF A E) B AKBEBRBANE N CEBFBMEER
TEINBRE -

Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in basis points in profit before tax
EREHS F B2 A 0% F
(B# 1) #m, (5 2)
HK$000
B F T
2010 —E-FF
HK$ borrowings BEER 100 (1,062)
HK$ borrowings B E R (100) 1,062
2009 —TETNE
HK$ borrowings BB R 100 (222)
HK$ borrowings B E R (100) 222

Market risk

The Group trades in financial instruments including derivatives.

Market risk represented the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of
financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables,
such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to
market risk through its derivative financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures mainly
arise from purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. Approximately 15% (2009: 22%) of the Group'’s
purchases are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the operating units making the purchase. In order to minimise
the impact of foreign exchange exposure, the Group has entered into
forward currency contracts with creditworthy banks to manage its
exchange rate exposure.

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2009/10
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 46.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s mAR M

31 March2010 —ZE—ZEF =/ =+—H

MBERBREEERERBEE)

(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

5118 0 1 ()
TARTRRERAEALRATRONLT SR
BB B AR (MR EBAEREEHAT EELD)
HRARSERNARBERDHREN -

Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in RMB rate in profit before tax

ARBER R B3 A1 0% Fl
L (BIE) #m, (5 2)
% HK$000
27 B TFor
2010 —E-EF
If RMB weakens against US$ REBHETREL (1) (38,221)
If RMB strengthens against US$ E@Hﬁ HETRE 1 38,221
2009 —TTNF
If RMB weakens against US$ EARBHEETRY M (31,861)
If RMB strengthens against US$ HEAREHBEEETRE 1 31,861

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, other receivables
and certain derivative instruments, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Company is also exposed to credit risk through the
granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in
note 40 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Over 90% of the Group's
customers and operations are located in Mainland China. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by industry sector and customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in note 29 to the
financial statements.

2009/10 F

EERR
AEBEAERAREEBEZEZFETRS ° &
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BRERR -

AEEEpEREECRRBRRSIASEEY  AH
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 46.

(continued)
Liquidity risk

170

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial
instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills receivables) and

projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank borrowings
and other available sources of finances. In addition, banking facilities have

been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company'’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

MBERBREEERERBEE)

E LB
AEBRABERREURDESH I TAEEES
RRMER -  ZTAZRESL SR TAESHEE (I
FEUWESRERAREREBR) ZINHARA LKL LEE
BeRHEERERE

AEEZ BRAEBERNSRTEFA R E 7T
BrBELXR #FHESTEEULREEE 2T - it
S AEBEERBRTEENEESZA -

ATEHIAEERARARBERRZERAEDNH
BORBERI MM AR REFE) ¢

Group rE
2010
—E-EF
Less than
3 months or 3 to less than Over
on demand 12 months 1to 5 years 5 years Total
ZEARTH =F
By +=@EAR —ZERE BBEF #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT BT T BT BT
Interest-bearing bank M SERITER
borrowings 421,163 67,119 1,123,106 - 1,611,388
Bond payable B ES 3,779 233,854 - - 237,633
Trade and bills payables BN E SRR R ENER 6,834,765 374,908 - - 7,209,673
Other payables and accruals — E i JE{ 518 R B 1R B F 76,677 969,764 - - 1,046,441
Derivative financial TEEmIA
instruments - 6,456 - - 6,456
7,336,384 1,652,101 1,123,106 - 10,111,591
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s mAR M

31 March2010 —E—ZF=ZHA=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 46. BIBEBEEBZERBEK(E)

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) i B B B ()

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities RTHINAEBRARRRBERAR S RAE D H
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual HOREE T M RBIR B E) - (8)

undiscounted payments, was as follows: (continued)

Group rE
2009
—ETNEF

Less than
3 monthsor 3 toless than Over
on demand 12 months 1to 5 years 5 years Total
=@EANRT ==z

HEIE  +TZEAR —ZhF 88 hF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T BET T BET T EBET T

Interest-bearing bank Bt B RITE R
borrowings 878,517 40,801 814,435 - 1,733,753
Bond payable e E S 3,779 11,337 237,633 = 252,749
Trade and bills payables ERE SRR R ERRR 4,637,228 60,475 - = 4,697,703
Other payables and accruals ~ H A BN RIERTERE A 513,751 326,735 = = 840,486
6,033,275 439,348 1,052,068 - 7,524,691
Company ARAT
2010
—2-%%
Less than
3 months or 3 to less than Over
on demand 12 months 1to 5 years 5 years Total
=EAUTE =%
My +t=@AR —ZRF BBERF st
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000
BT EBETFT BT BT EBETFT
Due to subsidiaries JEASHB B A R FRIE 1,645,357 - - - 1,645,357
Other payables and accruals — E i JE {578 R B 1R B 10,483 - - - 10,483

1,655,840 - - - 1,655,840

2009/10 £ #f f&8 )
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 46.

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company'’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows: (continued)

MBERBREEERERBEE)

B 1 B (4K)
ATEHINAEERARTRBERR 2SR AEEH
ARBEETNERBRRIENE) : (8)

Company P NN
2009
—ETNEF
Less than
3 monthsor 3 to less than Over
on demand 12 months 1to 5 years 5 years Total
=EALT =2
BE +Z@EAR —ZhF 88 I F st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B F T B FT B FT B F T BUF T
Due to subsidiaries & A< T B A B R I8 2,235,504 - - - 2,235,504
Other payables and accruals ~ E i JE (- 5118 R T8 12 B 6,734 8 - = 6,742
2,242,238 8 - - 2,242,246

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by the total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to maintain the
gearing ratio as low as possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
borrowings, a bond payable, trade and bills payables, other payables and
accruals, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity
attributable to equity holders of the parent. The gearing ratios as at ends
of the reporting periods were as follows:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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46. HIHEAREEEERBX(E)

Capital management (continued) EXEE (&)
Group
&
2010 2009
—z-2% —TThE
HK$000 HK$000
BETT B F T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mt S ERITE R 1,496,311 1,576,965
Bond payable R EH 226,296 226,296
Trade and bills payables ERNE SRR R ENZR 7,209,673 4,697,703
Other payables and accruals Hi R RIERERER 1,850,178 1,681,331
Less: cash and cash equivalents BRERBEEEEY (2,772,026) (1,734,428)
Net debt BEFE 8,010,432 6,447,867
Equity attributable to equity holders of NCIEE Y Ty £
the parent 4,200,828 3,139,936
Total capital AR 4,200,828 3,139,936
Total capital and net debt BERMBEFHE 12,211,260 9,587,803
Gearing ratio BEBER 66% 67%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the

board of directors on 20 July 2010.
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d) i & FIVE-YEAR
N FINANCIAL SUMMARY
- hEMBRHE
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial information, is set out below.

AEEBELEMBFERRACAMEERYBERZ

XE BE BERIBRREABENT -

RESULTS EF
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-TF —TTNF ZZTN\FE ZZZTLF ZZZTITRHF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT B TT BT T BT T B TFT
REVENUE KA 50,178,281 42,326,342 35,243,773 25,418,398 19,864,897
PROFIT BEFORE TAX b Bt A& A 1,047,990 736,222 453,032 241,944 269,581
Income tax expense FRHER (174,288) (126,936) (52,152) (40,631) (20,970)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE i F 873,702 609,286 400,880 201,313 248,611
Attributable to: EBR:
Equity holders of the parent A A) AR A 824,299 641,145 401,125 208,429 251,917
Minority interests DHRRER 49,403 (31,859) (245) (7,116) (3,306)
873,702 609,286 400,880 201,313 248,611
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND MINORITY INTERESTS EE BEHIHEBRRES
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—8H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-ZF —ZETNF —ZEEN\F —ZETLHF —EERE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT T EET T BT T B TFT
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 15,669,789 11,546,225 9,314,491 6,885,060 5,827,364
TOTAL LIABILITIES BAaR (10,996,406) (8,315,305) (6,670,795) (4,911,814) (4,021,496)
MINORITY INTERESTS DHRR RS (472,555) (90,984) (17,777) (11,893) (19,009)
4,200,828 3,139,936 2,625,919 1,961,353 1,786,859
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Board of Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LIN Yang (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN
Mr. TANG Xudong
Mr. SHENG Gang
Mr. QIU Zhongwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Zhaoguang

Professor WU Jinglian

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter

Company Secretary
Mr. WONG Chi Keung

Registered Office

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Ltd.
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Legal Advisors

As to Hong Kong law:
Norton Rose

As to Bermuda law:
Appleby

Auditors
Ernst & Young (Certified Public Accountants)

Bermuda Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd.
Argyle House

41A, Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Abacus Limited
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Stock Code
00861

Website

www.digitalchina.com.hk
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